# Supported decision-making and guardianship: proposals for reform



# **Contents**

| Introduction   | . 1 |
|--|-----|
| Our inquiry  | . 1 |
| Purpose of the roundtables   | . 1 |
| Supported decision-making roundtable   | . 1 |
| Guardianship and administration roundtable   | . 2 |
| Human rights basis   | . 3 |
| What we have heard about decision-making and guardianship arrangements                 | . 4 |
| Violence, abuse, neglect and exploitation under guardianship and administration orders | . 5 |
| Guardianship can be a safeguard  | . 5 |
| Balancing duty of care and dignity of risk   | . 5 |
| Some people with disability experience additional barriers                             | . 6 |
| Barriers to people with disability participating in decision-making                    | . 6 |
| The need for greater understanding and access to supported decision-making             | . 6 |
| Movement towards supported decision-making   | . 7 |
| Developments in Australia  | . 8 |
| Developments internationally   | . 9 |
| Pilot programs   | 10  |
| Proposals – potential reform directions  | 12  |
| Part 1: Supported decision-making  | 12  |
| National supported decision-making framework   | 12  |
| Principles   | 13  |
| Guidelines   | 15  |
| Support  | 15  |
| Will, preferences and rights   | 16  |

|     | Safeguards  | 8 |
|-----|---|---|
|     | Decision-making ability   | 9 |
|     | Recognition of informal supporters and advocates                              | 1 |
|     | Respect for the right to dignity of risk                                      | 2 |
|     | Supported decision-making model   | 3 |
|     | Safeguard mechanisms  | 8 |
|     | Interpretative declaration in relation to article 12                          | 1 |
|     | Implementing a national supported decision-making framework                   | 1 |
|     | Education, training and capacity building                                     | 1 |
|     | Governance  | 3 |
|     | Funding responsibilities  | 3 |
|     | Transitional implementation   | 4 |
| Paı | t 2: Guardianship   | 6 |
|     | A national 'best practice' model of guardianship                              | 6 |
|     | A role for supported decision-making  | 6 |
|     | A focus on decision-making ability  | 6 |
|     | Approaches to incorporating supported decision-making in guardianship regimes | 7 |
|     | Best practice safeguards in guardianship                                      | 9 |
|     | Alternative dispute resolution  | 0 |
|     | Monitoring and review mechanisms  | 1 |
|     | Complaint and investigation processes   | 1 |
|     | Accountability mechanisms   | 1 |
|     | Independent legal representation  | 2 |
|     | Additional safeguards for NDIS participants                                   | 2 |
|     | Monitoring and oversight of restrictive practices                             | 2 |
|     | Reforms for cultural safety   | 4 |
|     | Transition points   | 5 |

| Transitioning into guardianship                     |  |  |  |
|---|--|--|--|
| Transitioning out of guardianship                   |  |  |  |
| Education and training on supported decision-making |  |  |  |
| Data collection and public reporting                |  |  |  |
| Appendix  |  |  |  |
| Key concepts  |  |  |  |
| Autonomy  |  |  |  |
| Dignity   |  |  |  |
| Dignity of risk                                     |  |  |  |
| Capacity  |  |  |  |
| Guardianship and administration                     |  |  |  |
| Rights, will and preference                         |  |  |  |
| Substitute decision-making51                        |  |  |  |
| Supported decision-making                           |  |  |  |
| Endnotes  |  |  |  |

iii

# Introduction

# Our inquiry

The Royal Commission into the Violence, Abuse, Neglect and Exploitation of People with Disability (the Royal Commission) is looking at the right to autonomy for people with disability, including how this applies in guardianship and decision-making arrangements.

Our terms of reference direct the Royal Commission to inquire into:

what should be done to promote a more inclusive society that supports the independence of people with disability and their right to live free from violence, abuse, neglect and exploitation<sup>1</sup>

what governments, institutions and the community should do to prevent, and better protect, people with disability from experiencing violence, abuse, neglect and exploitation, having regard to the extent of violence, abuse, neglect and exploitation experienced by people with disability in all settings and contexts.<sup>2</sup>

The terms of reference also require us to consider the critical role families, carers, advocates, the workforce and others play in providing care and support to people with disability.<sup>3</sup>

# Purpose of the roundtables

The Royal Commission is holding two policy roundtables to hear feedback on proposed reform directions for supported decision-making and guardianship in Australia. These concepts are defined in the **Appendix**, along with other key concepts.

The proposed reform directions are based on the work we have done to date and the requirement in our Terms of Reference to consider the findings and recommendations of previous relevant reports and inquiries.

# Supported decision-making roundtable

The first roundtable will discuss how a national policy and legislative framework for supported decision-making can be implemented as an alternative or complementary approach to substitute decision-making for people with disability. The proposed national framework sets out principles and a model for how these principles should be applied in different contexts, including guardianship and administration, the National Disability Insurance Scheme (NDIS), health care, supported accommodation, and the criminal justice system.

This roundtable will focus on the proposals for reform in **Part 1** of this paper.

Introduction 1

# Guardianship and administration roundtable

The second roundtable will examine proposals for how a national supported decision-making framework can apply within the context of guardianship and administrative systems in Australia.

This roundtable will focus on the proposals for reform in **Part 2** of this paper. Part 1 provides important background to the proposed options outlined in Part 2, and the two parts should be read together.

# **Human rights basis**

Our terms of reference recognise the human rights of people with disability, including 'respect for their inherent dignity and individual autonomy'. This Royal Commission seeks to translate those rights into practical and sustainable policies and practices, to reflect the values and standards the community expects to be upheld for people with disability.

Historically, many people with disability have not been allowed to make decisions and take risks in their own lives.<sup>6</sup> In its preamble, the *Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities* (*CRPD*) recognises the importance of autonomy for people with disability.<sup>7</sup> The first general principle in article 3 of the *CRPD* is:

Respect for inherent dignity, individual autonomy including the freedom to make one's own choices, and independence of persons.<sup>8</sup>

Article 12 of the *CRPD* is 'Equal recognition before the law'. Article 12 also recognises that people with disability may require support to exercise their legal capacity. Guidance on the *CRPD* advises that, according to article 12, a person cannot lose their legal capacity to act because of disability. The CRPD Committee describes support as 'a broad term that encompasses both informal and formal support arrangements, of varying types and intensity'.

Although article 12 does not explicitly prohibit substitute decision-making, the CRPD Committee has said compliance with article 12 requires elimination of such regimes and the development of alternatives.<sup>12</sup> The Committee has also said that having supported and substitute decision-making systems in parallel does not comply with article 12.<sup>13</sup>

Despite this guidance, different perspectives remain around the interpretation of article 12, including whether legal capacity can be overridden, and when and whether substitute decision-making is allowable. During the drafting of the General Comment for article 12, the Australian Government outlined its concerns that, while it recognises the importance of respecting the legal capacity of people with disability 'to the fullest extent possible', there are situations in which 'substituted decision-making may be the only available option'. <sup>15</sup>

Human rights basis 3

# What we have heard about decisionmaking and guardianship arrangements

The Royal Commission has held 13 Public hearings to date that have raised these issues.<sup>16</sup> Witnesses have given evidence that supported decision-making provides greater opportunities for people with disability to exercise their autonomy.<sup>17</sup> A further hearing on guardianship and administration, to be held from 21-25 November 2022, will build on these policy roundtables and previous hearings. It will provide an opportunity for people with disability to give evidence about their lived experience of guardianship.

As at 6 May 2022, the Royal Commission had received 1,230 submissions and held 333 private sessions that have raised issues about guardianship, choice and control, and decision-making.

People with disability have told the Royal Commission about the ways their autonomy is limited or denied. People have described how options are not available to them or decisions are made for them, so they feel unable to lead their own lives. We have heard about a lack of autonomy in decision-making related to education, work, living arrangements, relationships, sex, and access to services, including the NDIS. We have also heard about everyday choices, such as when to get up and what to eat, being limited. Some people have described substitute decision-making in connection with experiences of violence, abuse, neglect and exploitation.

Substitute decision-making can also occur formally, including under guardianship and administration orders. We have received 133 responses to issues papers that have covered guardianship and administration. These responses have mainly been to the *Rights and attitudes*, *Promoting inclusion*, and *Safeguards and quality* issues papers.

Guardianship and administration orders are intended to be a safeguard against violence, abuse, neglect and exploitation. The Royal Commission has heard that, while guardianship and administration serve this purpose for some people, for others they limit decision-making and autonomy. This can have detrimental impacts across multiple areas of their lives. We have also been told that it can be difficult to navigate these systems and access complaint mechanisms, and that they lack regulation and accountability. We have been told that these systems disproportionately affect people with disability, and can have significant impacts on those subject to them.

Some people have described Public Guardians or Trustees mishandling funds or acting in a way that led to a decline in a person's wellbeing and standard of living. We have also heard about people with disability being financially exploited by family members who have guardianship or administration over them.

We have also been told that, despite legislative requirements, guardianship and administration orders are often not used as a last resort. We have heard concerns about the increasing use of guardianship as a means of obtaining authorisation for the use of restrictive practices.

The key themes across evidence and information gathered by this Royal Commission are explained below.

# Violence, abuse, neglect and exploitation under guardianship and administration orders

Some submissions assert that the actions of a Public Guardian or Trustee have led to a decline in a person's standard of living or adverse life course outcomes, such as the loss of housing or accommodation.<sup>18</sup> Others have described a lack of choice over living arrangements and their finances,<sup>19</sup> and the lack of opportunities to develop skills such as financial literacy.<sup>20</sup>

# Guardianship can be a safeguard

Public hearings held to date provide examples of when guardianship and decision-making arrangements have been a safeguard, particularly when advocates have applied for guardianship. In these circumstances, guardians can be a source of support and protection against violence, abuse, neglect or exploitation for people with disability living in closed institutions.<sup>21</sup>

In Public hearing 11, the guardians for Winmartie and Melanie brought their respective cases to the Royal Commission's attention. These guardians have strongly advocated for improved conditions and reduced use of restrictive practices. In this context, the role of guardianship has provided a degree of scrutiny and accountability. In evidence given to the Royal Commission, these guardians centred their role on the wishes and preferences of the person they represent.<sup>22</sup>

# Balancing duty of care and dignity of risk

The Royal Commission has been told that 'having choice in our lives involves risk'.<sup>23</sup> We have also heard that there is no one in the community who behaves in a way that doesn't involve risk.<sup>24</sup> The importance of balancing duty of care and supporting a person's dignity of risk has been examined in public hearings.

Stakeholders have told the Royal Commission that service providers may restrict the lives of people with disability because of fear that they do not have a good understanding of risk, and that the service providers will be held responsible for their 'unwise' decisions. <sup>25</sup> Service providers' responses to risk can be driven by fear of blame, litigation, negative media attention, and reputational damage. <sup>26</sup>

Public hearing 20 examined how disability services balance duty of care and dignity of risk. Counsel Assisting submitted that there was evidence that the service provider Life Without Barriers did not respect the right of resident 'Sophie' to dignity of risk and privacy and did not appropriately support her right to intimacy.<sup>27</sup>

# Some people with disability experience additional barriers

We have heard that some people with disability face additional barriers to exercising their autonomy, based on their type of disability, cultural and socio-economic background, gender or gender identity, sexuality, and age.<sup>28</sup> First Nations people with disability have described how guardianship and administration can result in disconnect from Country and culture.<sup>29</sup> During private sessions, we have heard about the difficulties experienced by people with disability from culturally and linguistically diverse backgrounds in navigating guardianship processes. One woman with disability from a culturally and linguistically diverse background described how the guardianship process was the backdrop to domestic violence.

# Barriers to people with disability participating in decision-making

We have been told that people with cognitive disability are routinely disempowered, not believed and excluded from decision-making processes.<sup>30</sup> One disability support worker told us that, in her experience, disability service staff are pressured to 'go along with' the wishes of guardians in order to keep a client's funding, and that this may result in abuse and neglect.<sup>31</sup>

# The need for greater understanding and access to supported decision-making

A recurring theme across the evidence and information provided to the Royal Commission has been supported decision-making as a way to realise the autonomy of people with disability.<sup>32</sup> Support for decision-making has arisen across a number of public hearings held to date.

However, we have been told that in practice supported decision-making is generally not recognised as an alternative to substitute decision-making by tribunals, disability service providers, health professionals, other institutions and the broader community.<sup>33</sup>

# Movement towards supported decision-making

A number of Australian and international jurisdictions, sectors and organisations have started to move away from substitute decision-making toward supported decision-making.

Substitute decision-making refers to processes and regimes that involve decisions being made on another person's behalf. This approach removes legal capacity from a person, as a substitute decision-maker can be appointed against a person's will, and decisions are based on the 'best interests' of the person concerned, rather than their will and preferences.<sup>34</sup>

Supported decision-making refers to processes and approaches that assist people to exercise their autonomy and legal capacity by supporting them to make decisions. This approach seeks to give effect to the will and preferences of the person requiring decision-making support.

Supported decision-making has also been flagged as an effective mechanism for addressing and safeguarding against elder abuse, a particular concern for people with dementia and older people with disability.<sup>35</sup>

The shift from substitute to supported decision-making has been described as a significant human rights development, particularly for people with cognitive disability.<sup>36</sup> It aligns with article 12(3) of the *CRPD*:

States Parties shall take appropriate measures to provide access by persons with disabilities to the support they may require in exercising their legal capacity.

Supported decision-making better enables people with disability to exercise their autonomy. A range of stakeholders have highlighted the importance of introducing a nationally consistent approach that aligns with the *CRPD*.<sup>37</sup> The CRPD Committee has called on Australia to 'implement a nationally consistent supported decision-making framework' as recommended by the Australian Law Reform Commission (ALRC).<sup>38</sup> Nonetheless, implementation in law, policy and practice remains a challenge.<sup>39</sup>

In Australia, evidence suggests that supported decision-making and substitute decision-making, including guardianship, are not mutually exclusive. <sup>40</sup> Rather, law reform bodies and researchers have examined the co-existence of guardianship and supported decision-making. Some research describes substitute decision-making as a legitimate part of a continuum when they are used as a last resort after all possible options to support a person with disability to make their own decisions have been exhausted. <sup>41</sup>

The sections below outline recent movements toward supported decision-making, both in Australia and overseas. The Royal Commission is considering the merits of these approaches as part of our inquiry.

# Developments in Australia

In Australia, several government inquiries and initiatives have recommended increased supported decision-making for people with disability.

In 2014, the ALRC report, *Equality, Capacity and Disability in Commonwealth Laws* recommended that all jurisdictions reform relevant laws and legal frameworks to formally recognise and promote supported decision-making in line with four principles and a decision-making model.<sup>42</sup>

#### The four Principles are:43

- Principle 1: All adults have an equal right to make decisions that affect their lives and to have those decisions respected.
- Principle 2: Persons who require support in decision-making must be provided with access to the support necessary for them to make, communicate and participate in decisions that affect their lives.
- Principle 3: The will, preferences and rights of persons who may require decision-making support must direct decisions that affect their lives.
- Principle 4: Laws, legal frameworks and policies must contain appropriate and effective safeguards in relation to interventions for persons who may require decision-making support, including to prevent abuse and undue influence.

The ALRC's recommendations have been widely endorsed in Australia and recognised internationally.<sup>44</sup> Many submissions to the Royal Commission and responses to issues papers have also endorsed the recommendations.<sup>45</sup>

Other major national inquiries have similarly recommended an increased focus on supported decision-making.<sup>46</sup>

Victoria and Queensland have also recognised and incorporated support for decision-making in guardianship legislation, to varying extents.<sup>47</sup>

Queensland requires a 'structured' approach to decision-making that starts by recognising the autonomy of the individual, before resorting to appointed substitute decision-making. The steps include:

- recognition of the person's right to make their own decisions and, if possible, support for the person to make a decision
- recognition of the views, wishes and preferences expressed or demonstrated by the person

- recognition of the person's views, wishes and preferences under the principle of substituted judgement
- exercise of power under substitute decision-making.<sup>48</sup>

In 2019, Victoria passed legislation to reform its guardianship system.<sup>49</sup> The Victorian reforms sought to implement the principles recommended by the ALRC.<sup>50</sup> Legislation now provides for the appointment and legal recognition of roles for supporters in decision-making.<sup>51</sup> Subsequently, a 'supportive guardian' or 'supportive administrator' can be appointed to support a person to make and give effect to their own decisions about personal or financial matters.<sup>52</sup> A supportive guardian or administrator cannot make decisions on a person's behalf.<sup>53</sup>

Professor Ron McCallum AO and other legal commentators have considered the Victorian approach the closest an Australian jurisdiction has come to complying with human rights principles and the *CRPD*.<sup>54</sup> The introduction of the *Guardianship and Administration Act 2019* in Victoria saw a reduction in applications for guardianship orders.<sup>55</sup> A number of responses to issues papers have suggested that this Royal Commission consider the Victorian approach.<sup>56</sup>

Recent reviews into guardianship and administration in New South Wales, Tasmania and the Australian Capital Territory have made recommendations on incorporating a formal supported decision-making scheme.<sup>57</sup> There have been no official government responses to these reviews.

Other statutory frameworks provide for supported decision-making in other ways. For example, the *National Disability Insurance Scheme Act 2013* recognises the role of informal supporters.<sup>58</sup> The *Aged Care Quality Standards* require organisations to provide support for decision-making.<sup>59</sup>

In 2021, the federal Department of Social Services (DSS) released *Good Practice in Supported Decision-making for People with Disability* (DSS report).<sup>60</sup> The aim of this report was to develop guidelines for government stakeholders, statutory organisations and disability organisations on nationally consistent supported decision-making.

# Developments internationally

There have also been a number of initiatives and approaches to implementing supported decision-making at the international level. Jurisdictions in Canada,<sup>61</sup> the United States,<sup>62</sup> Israel,<sup>63</sup> Argentina,<sup>64</sup> Peru,<sup>65</sup> and a number of European countries<sup>66</sup> have taken measures to formally recognise and implement supported decision-making.

Costa Rica, Colombia and Peru have eliminated all forms of guardianship for people with disability from their legal frameworks. <sup>67</sup> In Peru, this was achieved via legislative reform that repealed provisions that allowed for substituted decision-making regimes. These reforms introduced a supported decision-making system which recognised full legal capacity to people with disability who, except for certain cases, are able to freely appoint supports and safeguards through judicial or notary procedures. <sup>68</sup> The law does not immediately overturn current

guardianship arrangements, but instead transforms the system to designate supports and safeguards.<sup>69</sup> Research has highlighted the need for guidance on how these reform apply in practice, as some issues (such as conflict of interest) were not addressed in legislation and, in practice, some judges have responded to the reforms as a change in name only.<sup>70</sup>

Other jurisdictions internationally retain guardianship as an option of last resort.<sup>71</sup> Ireland, for example, introduced the *Assisted Decision Making (Capacity) Act* in 2015. While the Act incorporates supported decision-making approaches, section 38 allows for guardianship.<sup>72</sup>

Canada is considered at the forefront of embedding alternatives to substitute decision-making in guardianship legislation.<sup>73</sup> A number of Canadian provinces have implemented supported decision-making models, building on earlier developments in Scandinavian countries.<sup>74</sup>

In Alberta, legislation provides for supported decision-making and co-decision-making.<sup>75</sup> In British Columbia, a person can enter into a 'representation agreement', appointing representatives to help them make decisions or make decisions on their behalf. A representation agreement retains substitute decision-making as an option, but only if the person chooses that option. Regardless of whether the person chooses to appoint someone as a supporter or substitute decision-maker, the agreements emphasise respecting the person's wishes, beliefs and values.<sup>76</sup> However, research has found a limited uptake, largely due to a lack of trusting relationships with a person who could perform this role.<sup>77</sup>

The United States has developed a model law on guardianship, which among other things requires a court to rule out supported decision-making as an option prior to appointing a guardian, conservator or other protective arrangement.<sup>78</sup> This model law has been enacted in two states, and further states are incorporating references to supported decision-making in their statutes.<sup>79</sup>

# Pilot programs

A number of trials and pilot programs in Australia and internationally have aimed to better understand how supported decision-making works in practice.<sup>80</sup> In Australia, pilot programs have taken place in South Australia, Victoria, New South Wales, Australian Capital Territory, Queensland and Western Australia.<sup>81</sup> Most aimed to implement supported decision-making models for people with cognitive disability.

In 2021, the National Disability Insurance Agency (NDIA) published the outcomes of a consultation on supports for decision-making for NDIS participants.<sup>82</sup> Building on these outcomes, the NDIA began co-designing a new Support for Decision Making policy and implementation plan in 2022.<sup>83</sup>

The National Disability Advocacy Program (NDAP), funded by the DSS, is currently running a Decision Support Pilot, designed to assist people with 'limited decision-making capacity' navigate the NDIS.<sup>84</sup>

While peer-reviewed studies are limited, these pilots provide a growing evidence base on the benefits of supported decision-making for people with disability.<sup>85</sup>

Pilots in Massachusetts and New York aimed to provide supported decision-making as an alternative to guardianship. <sup>86</sup> Israel has also run a pilot involving people under guardianship with the aim to develop and formulate a supported decision-making model to disseminate to community members, professionals and policy makers. <sup>87</sup>

For a small number of supported decision-makers, there was also the removal, or initiation of removal, of a guardianship or administration order during the pilot.<sup>88</sup>

However, research commissioned by the Royal Commission suggests a need for further pilots to examine supported decision-making as an alternative to guardianship or financial administration orders, given the limited numbers of participants to date.<sup>89</sup>

# Proposals - potential reform directions

The following reform proposals are put forward for discussion at the roundtables. The proposals do not necessarily represent the considered views of all Commissioners.

# Part 1: Supported decision-making

This section looks at possible reform directions to recognise and enable supported decision-making. It will be the focus of the first roundtable on **31 May 2022.** 

# National supported decision-making framework

The Royal Commission is considering a national supported decision-making framework, based on the ALRC's recommendations. The framework would include:

- principles to guide reform of federal, state and territory laws, policies and legal frameworks, as well as policies and practices of public and private bodies
- guidelines to support implementation
- · a supported decision-making model.

A national approach to supported decision-making would have the advantage of increasing consistency across jurisdictions. It would also enable the implementation of a national safeguarding framework that prioritises the will, preferences and rights of a person with disability. National consistency in safeguarding would decrease the risk of violence, abuse, neglect or exploitation.

The national supported decision-making framework would encourage greater use of supported decision-making by tribunals, courts, health professionals, other institutions, and the broader community.<sup>90</sup> It should apply to:

- guardianship and administration (explored in Part 2)
- the NDIS
- health care
- supported accommodation
- the criminal justice system.

The national supported decision-making framework would also build the confidence and capacity of disability service providers to include best practice supported decision-making in their operations.<sup>91</sup>

Legislating elements of a supported decision-making framework would strengthen implementation.<sup>92</sup> Legal recognition can change 'social perceptions and actions'.<sup>93</sup>

The considered national supported decision-making framework, comprising of principles, guidelines and a supported decision-making model, should:

- guide reform of Commonwealth, state and territory laws and policies, as well as public and private organisational practice
- promote co-designed pilots and trials of supported decision-making across service systems, including long-term funding for these
- accommodate the development of culturally safe models of supported decision-making, including for First Nations people, people from culturally and linguistically diverse backgrounds and other population groups
- increase awareness of supported decision-making as an alternative to substitute decision-making
- ensure substitute decision-making occurs only as a last resort, subject to safeguards.

# **Principles**

The Royal Commission has considered the Principles recommended in the ALRC report. Based on the evidence and information gathered through this inquiry, the Royal Commission is considering an expanded list of eight principles.

Principle 1: Recognition of the equal right to make decisions

All adults have an equal right to make decisions that affect their lives and to have those decisions respected.

Principle 2: Presumption of decision-making ability

All adults must be presumed to have ability to make decisions that affect their lives.

Principle 3: Respect for dignity and the right to dignity of risk

All adults must be treated with dignity and respect and supported to take risks to enable them to live their lives the way they choose, including in their social and intimate relationships.

Principle 4: Recognition of the role of informal supporters and advocates

The role of informal supporters and advocates who provide supported decision-making should be acknowledged and respected.

Principle 5: Access to support necessary to communicate and participate in decisions

Persons who require support in decision-making must be provided with access to the support necessary for them to make, communicate and participate in decisions that affect their lives.

Principle 6: Decisions directed by a person's own will, preferences and rights

The will, preferences and rights of persons who may require decision-making support must direct decisions that affect their lives.

Principle 7: Inclusion of appropriate and effective safeguards against violence, abuse, neglect or exploitation

Laws and legal frameworks must contain appropriate and effective safeguards for interventions for persons who may require decision-making support, including to prevent abuse and undue influence.

Principle 8: Co-design, co-production and peer-lead design processes

People with disability and their representative organisations should be involved in the reform and development of laws, policies and legal frameworks.

#### Reform proposal 1: National supported decision-making principles

Australian, state and territory governments should embed the national supported decision-making principles in federal, state and territory laws, policies and legal frameworks. These principles form part of the legislative model of supported decision-making outlined in Reform proposal 8 below.

Public and private organisations should also use these principles to inform their policies and practice.

- 1. Do you agree or disagree with the proposed national supported decision-making principles?
- 2. Are there any unintended consequences or barriers to implementation we need to consider?

#### **Guidelines**

The ALRC report recommended guidelines to assist with the implementation of their proposed principles. The guidelines focused on support; will, preferences and rights; and safeguards.<sup>94</sup> The Royal Commission's suggested guidelines draw on those recommended by the ALRC.

In addition, the Royal Commission suggests that further guidelines be considered to support the relevant principles on:

- decision-making ability
- respect for the right to dignity of risk
- recognition of informal supporters and advocates
- · co-design, co-production and peer-led processes.

The following sub-sections outline the rationale for these guidelines.

# **Support**

Support should enhance the ability of people with disability to make decisions and exercise control over their own lives. This includes the choice to have a supporter, choose the supporter, or to decline support.<sup>95</sup>

The Royal Commission has considered the ALRC support guideline,<sup>96</sup> but suggests that the core elements of the process for supported decision-making should be included. This should incorporate aspects drawn from the DSS report on *Good Practice in Supported Decision-making for People with Disability*.<sup>97</sup>

#### Reform proposal 2: Support guideline

People who require supported decision-making should be supported to make decisions and to participate in and contribute to all aspects of life.

The provision of support should ensure that:

- people who require supported decision-making should be able to choose to be assisted by a supporter, and to cease being supported at any time
- where a supporter is chosen, ultimate decision-making authority remains with the person who requires decision-making support
- supported decisions should be recognised as the decisions of the person who required supported decision-making.

Steps that should be undertaken in providing supported decision-making include:

- a question or issue is presented to a person with additional contextual information as required and alternatives
- the person requiring decision-making support consults with their preferred supporter/s
- the supporter must at all times seek to give effect to the 'will, preferences, and rights' of the person requiring decision-making support
- the person requiring decision-making support decides
- the decision is documented, acted upon, and is legally enforceable.

#### **Discussion questions**

- 1. Do you agree with the inclusion of the guideline on support?
- 2. Are there any unintended consequences or barriers to implementation we need to consider?

# Will, preferences and rights

The ALRC's will, preferences and rights guidelines differentiate between supported and representative decision-making. The starting point, in both cases, is that decisions must be directed by the will and preferences of the person needing decision-making support.<sup>98</sup>

The ALRC guidelines also require that, in cases where the will and preferences of a person cannot be determined, the focus should be on what the person's will and preferences would likely be. In the absence of a means to determine this, a new default standard is advocated, expressed not in terms of 'best interests' but of human rights.<sup>99</sup>

The standard for how a representative should act in these circumstances requires a consideration of past information about decision-making choices. The ALRC report specified that a key source of such information is likely to be the person's family members, carers and other significant people in their life. 100

The Royal Commission considers there is merit in the ALRC's recommended will, preferences and rights guidelines.

#### Reform proposal 3: Will, preferences and rights guidelines

#### Supported decision-making

In assisting a person who requires supported decision-making, a person chosen by them as supporter must:

- support the person to express their will and preferences
- · assist the person to develop their own decision-making ability.

In communicating will and preferences, a person is entitled to:

- · communicate by any means that enable them to be understood
- have their cultural and linguistic circumstances recognised and respected.

#### Representative decision-making

Where a representative is appointed to make decisions for a person who requires supported decision-making:

- the person's will and preferences must be given effect
- where the person's current will and preferences cannot be determined, the
  representative must give effect to what the person would likely want, based
  on all the information available, including by consulting with family members,
  carers and other significant people in their life
- if it is not possible to determine what the person would likely want, the representative must act to promote and uphold the person's human rights and act in the way least restrictive of those rights
- a representative may override the person's will and preferences only where necessary to prevent harm.

#### **Discussion questions**

- 1. Do you agree with the inclusion of the guideline on will, preferences and rights?
- 2. Are there any unintended consequences or barriers to implementation we need to consider?

## Safeguards

Safeguards prevent a person who requires decision-making support from risk of violence, abuse, neglect or exploitation. Other safeguards may be required to ensure supported decision-making arrangements genuinely respond to and reflect the wishes of a person with disability.<sup>101</sup>

Our present view is that the ALRC safeguards guidelines capture the essential elements that should be incorporated in relevant laws and legal frameworks.<sup>102</sup> The safeguards guidelines also reflect the requirements in article 12(4) of the *CRPD* that all measures relating to the exercise of legal capacity provide for appropriate and effective safeguards.<sup>103</sup>

#### Reform proposal 4: Safeguards guidelines

Safeguards should ensure that interventions for persons who require supported decision-making are:

- · the least restrictive of the person's human rights
- subject to appeal
- subject to regular, independent and impartial monitoring and review.

#### Supported decision-making

- Supported decision-making must be free of conflict of interest and undue influence.
- Any appointment of a representative decision-maker should be:
  - a last resort and not an alternative to appropriate support
  - limited in scope, proportionate, and apply for the shortest time possible
  - subject to review.

#### **Discussion questions**

- 1. Do you agree with the inclusion of the guidelines on safeguards?
- 2. Are there any unintended consequences or barriers to implementation we need to consider?

## **Decision-making ability**

We have been told that, if a person with a disability is perceived to have diminished decision-making capacity, there is often an assumption that they do not understand their rights.<sup>104</sup> Contemporary approaches consider capacity as a spectrum, rather than something people do or do not possess. All people may require support to understand their rights at certain points in their lives, regardless of disability.<sup>105</sup>

The ALRC report found that all adults, except in very limited circumstances, have some level of decision-making ability and should be entitled to make decisions expressing their will and preferences, even if they require varying levels of support to do so.<sup>106</sup> As part of its recommended support guidelines, a person's decision-making ability was central to assessing the requirement of supports in decision-making.<sup>107</sup>

Recent law reform reports have also proposed including a presumption of decision-making ability as well as a statutory test of decision-making ability. The New South Wales Law Reform Commission considered that its recommended decision-making ability provisions should be applied by anyone who bears the onus of deciding whether a person lacks the relevant decision-making ability for a particular decision. This includes the tribunal, any representative, supporter, person responsible, or any witness to an agreement. It did not place an obligation on medical professionals who report on matters relevant to the determination of a person's decision-making ability. 109

We are attracted to the proposed decision-making ability guideline recommended by the New South Wales Law Reform Commission. 110

#### Reform proposal 5: Decision-making ability guideline

A person has decision-making ability if they are able to make a decision with practical and appropriate support, and at the time when the decision needs to be made:

- understand the relevant information
- understand the nature of the decision and the consequences of making or failing to make that decision
- · retain the information to the extent necessary to make the decision
- use the information or weigh it as part of the decision-making process
- communicate the decision in some way.

A person must not be determined to not have decision-making ability unless all practical steps have been taken to provide the person with appropriate support to make and communicate a decision.

In assessing what support is required in decision-making, the following must be considered:

- all adults must be presumed to have ability to make decisions that affect their lives
- a person must not be assumed to lack decision-making ability on the basis of having a disability
- a person's decision-making ability must be considered in the context of available supports
- a person's decision-making ability is to be assessed, not the outcome of the decision they want to make
- a person's decision-making ability will depend on the kind of decisions to be made
- a person's decision-making ability may evolve or fluctuate over time.

- 1. Do you agree with the inclusion of the guideline on decision-making ability?
  - a. What skills and experience are likely to be required for a person to carry out a decision-making ability test?
  - b. Should public officials be permitted to undertake this test with appropriate guidance?

## Recognition of informal supporters and advocates

We have been told there is a need for legislative recognition of the role of informal supporters and advocates in providing supported decision-making.<sup>111</sup> 'Informal supporters' can include family members, and paid and unpaid supporters.

We have been told there is a widespread lack of understanding of the role of informal supporters, and that informal supporters should be able to access information to convey it to the person they are supporting.<sup>112</sup>

There would be benefits in formalising supported decision-making arrangements so that they are better understood by supporters, representatives and third parties. Some third parties, such as financial institutions or people who wish to enter into contracts, may otherwise refuse to recognise a supporter, for example, attempting to access information. This may be due to fears of breaching privacy requirements or fears of a supporter exerting undue influence or coercion.

Concerns have been expressed that informal supported decision-making should not be displaced by new legal arrangements. A risk identified in legislating supported decision-making is that it undermines effective informal supported decision-making arrangements.<sup>115</sup>

Our present view is that the role of informal supporters should be formally recognised. While the ALRC support guideline acknowledged the role of family members, carers or others, <sup>116</sup> a dedicated guideline would promote recognition of informal supporters in practice.

#### Reform proposal 6: Recognition of informal supporters guideline

The role of persons who provide informal supported decision-making should be acknowledged and respected. Informal supporters include family members, carers, advocates or other significant people chosen to provide support.

Informal support arrangements should be not be displaced. The national decision-making principles in Reform proposal 1 should also apply to informal supporters.

- 1. Do you agree with the inclusion of a guideline to recognise the role of informal supporters?
  - a. What is needed to ensure information protection and prevent potential privacy breaches?
- 2. Are there any unintended consequences or barriers to implementation we need to consider?

## Respect for the right to dignity of risk

'Dignity of risk' has arisen in the Royal Commission's Public hearings, submissions and private sessions. We have been told that the lives of people with disability are often restricted as a result of concern that they may not have a good understanding of risk and that service providers will be held responsible for their decisions.<sup>117</sup>

During Public hearing 20: *Preventing and responding to violence, abuse, neglect and exploitation in disability services (two case studies)*, we heard about the difficulties service providers have in balancing their duty of care and supporting a person's right to dignity of risk.<sup>118</sup>

We have been told that risk is fundamental to the human experience. <sup>119</sup> In Public hearing 6: *Psychotropic medication, behaviour support and behaviours of concern*, we heard that that everyone in the community behaves in a way that involves risk and that 'having choice in our lives involves risk'. <sup>120</sup> Everyone is entitled to experience the dignity of risk – with support if necessary – and to make and learn from mistakes. <sup>121</sup>

Decision-making support has been proposed as a way to balance dignity of risk and duty of care. 122 The ALRC report noted that supported decision-making processes recognise dignity of risk and that people should be empowered with information to make decisions, including 'bad ones'. 123

The Aged Care Quality Standards explicitly refer to 'consumer dignity and choice' and require that organisations demonstrate that '[e]ach consumer is supported to take risks to enable them to live the best life they can'. 124 The Standards also require organisations to provide support for decision-making, including to make decisions about their own care, and how it is delivered, and make connections with others and maintain relationships of choice, including intimate relationships. 125

For these reasons, the Royal Commission considers there is value in proposing an additional principle and guideline on the right to dignity of risk.

#### Reform proposal 7: The right to dignity of risk guideline

People should be supported to take risks to enable them to live their lives the way they choose, including for everyday decisions and interpersonal relationships. This includes actions to recognise a person's strengths and empower them to be independent:

- the supporter, representative, or organisation need to take a balanced approach to managing risk and respecting a person's rights
- if a person makes a choice that is possibly harmful to them, then the supporter, representative, or organisation should help the person understand the risk and how it could be managed
- where organisations have other responsibilities for the health and safety of the workforce, the organisation should show how they involve the person to look for solutions that have the least restriction on the person's choices and autonomy.

#### **Discussion questions**

- 1. Do you agree with the inclusion of a guideline on the right to dignity of risk?
- 2. Are there any unintended consequences or barriers to implementation we need to consider?

The Royal Commission is interested in the practical effect of all the guidelines discussed above.

#### **Discussion questions**

- 1. What, if any, legal or regulatory effect should the guidelines have?
- 2. Should there be legal duties for public agencies and bodies to secure supported decision-making for people who need it?

# Supported decision-making model

This section looks at the introduction of a national model for supported decision-making.

The ALRC report recommended the introduction of a 'Commonwealth decision-making model' as a statutory mechanism in relevant laws and legal frameworks. 126 It recommended a legislative model, based on the roles of 'supporters' and 'representatives', that should be embedded into relevant Commonwealth laws related to the NDIS, social security, the justice system, and restrictive practices. This included recommending key elements of the model, namely:

- · amending the objects or principles provisions of relevant legislation
- the appointment, recognition, functions and duties of supporters and representatives
- appropriate and effective safeguards.<sup>127</sup>

To ensure the effective operation of this model and its interaction with state and territory systems, the ALRC recommended mechanisms to share information between Australian, state and territory government departments and agencies on appointments of supporters and representatives. 128

The ALRC further recommended state and territory governments review laws and legal frameworks to ensure they are consistent with its recommended principles and the Commonwealth decision-making model. 129 Although the ALRC focused on Commonwealth laws, it highlighted the need for 'parallel reform of state and territory guardianship and administration

laws' to integrate with the recommended Commonwealth model.<sup>130</sup> It noted practical difficulties and potential conflicts between Commonwealth, state and territory systems if state and territory systems retain existing decision-making systems.<sup>131</sup> The ALRC suggested legislative reform may also be required to align duties and responsibilities between Commonwealth, state and territory legislation.<sup>132</sup>

The ALRC model encourages the adoption of supported decision-making at a national level and introduces mechanisms for the appointment of 'supporters' (for people who may require decision-making support) and 'representatives' (for circumstances in which a person may desire, or require, someone else to make decisions for them). The terms 'supporter' and 'representative' have also been adopted in other law reform reports examining guardianship.

The ALRC model recognises several 'tiers' of supporters, reflecting that, in practice, supported decision-making occurs on a spectrum. It also retains substitute decision-making as a last resort. However, we note that, even where decision-making is legally attributed to a substitute or representative, the person's will and preferences may remain central and be reflected in the decision. This approach, referred to as 'substituted judgment', is recognised as being part of the spectrum of supported decision-making. Research suggests substituted judgment is better aligned with the intent of 'will and preferences' than a 'best interests' approach. 136

Victoria and Queensland have implemented supported decision-making models which comprise of some elements of the ALRC's model. For example, Queensland has updated its guardianship legislation to include general principles and health care principles that have greater consistency with human rights, particularly the *CRPD*.<sup>137</sup> These principles include the presumption of capacity, participation in decision-making, maintaining supportive relationships and maintaining culture, language, values and beliefs.<sup>138</sup> These general principles must be applied when making decisions on behalf of an adult with impaired decision-making capacity.

In Victoria, legislation was reformed to introduce supportive guardianship and supportive administration orders, allowing appointees to support a person with disability to make decisions on personal or financial matters respectively.<sup>139</sup> Other reforms included:

- expansion of the presumption of decision-making capacity to include presumption to make decisions with 'practicable and appropriate support' unless evidence to contrary<sup>140</sup>
- a new standard of decision-making which shifts away from the best interest standard, focusing on involvement of the person with disability and their will and preferences.<sup>141</sup>

Supported decision-making models in the context of guardianship are discussed further in Part 2 of this paper.

The Royal Commission considers that the Australian Government and state and territory governments should adopt the terms 'supporter' and 'representative' to provide greater clarity and understanding in approaches to decision-making. Public and private organisations should also adopt this terminology.

The Royal Commission sees merit in a supported decision-making model based on the ALRC 'Commonwealth decision-making model'.

#### Reform proposal 8: Supported decision-making model

The Australian Government, state and territory governments should introduce into relevant laws and legal frameworks the proposed supported decision-making model:

- the objects and principles provisions in legislation concerning decision-making by people who require supported decision-making should reflect the national supported decision-making principles in Reform proposal 1
- the concept, duties and responsibilities of a supporter should be consistent with Reform proposal 9
- the concept, duties and responsibilities of a representative should be consistent with Reform proposal 10
- the appointment and conduct of supporters and representatives should be subject to appropriate and effective safeguards.

The Australian government should embed this model in relevant Commonwealth legislation to provide for legal recognition of supporters and representatives, including provisions for their appointment, removal and associated safeguards. This should include (but not be limited to) the *National Disability Insurance Scheme Act 2013* (Cth); the NDIS Rules; the *Social Security (Administration) Act 1999* (Cth); and the *Aged Care Act 1997* (Cth).

The state and territory governments should embed this model in relevant state and territory laws, including guardianship and administration legal frameworks.

- 1. Do you agree with the introduction of this supported decision-making model nationally? Is the model applicable to all relevant laws and legal frameworks across jurisdictions at both the Commonwealth and state and territory level?
- 2. Are there any unintended consequences or barriers to implementation we need to consider?

#### Reform proposal 9: Supporters

A supporter assists a person who requires supported decision-making and may:

- obtain and disclose personal and other information on behalf of the person, and assist the person to understand information
- provide advice to the person about the decisions they might make
- assist the person to communicate the decisions
- endeavour to ensure the decisions of the person are given effect.

Relevant Commonwealth, state and territory laws and legal frameworks should provide that supporters of persons who require supported decision-making must:

- support the person to make decisions
- · support the person to express their will and preferences in making decisions
- act in a manner promoting the personal, social, financial, and cultural wellbeing of the person
- act honestly, diligently and in good faith
- support the person to consult, as they wish, with existing appointees, family members, carers and other significant people in their life in making decisions
- · assist the person to develop their own decision-making ability.

An 'existing appointee' should be defined to include existing supporters and representatives and a person or organisation who, under federal, state or territory law, has guardianship of the person, or is a person formally appointed to make decisions for the person.

- 1. Do you agree with the proposal to introduce and standardise the role of supporters nationally?
- 2. Are there any unintended consequences or barriers to implementation we need to consider?

#### Reform proposal 10: Representatives

A representative assists a person who requires supported decision-making or, where necessary, makes decisions on their behalf and may:

- obtain and disclose personal and other information on behalf of the person, and assist the person to understand information
- provide advice to the person about the decisions that might be made
- · communicate the decisions
- endeavour to ensure the decisions made are given effect.

Relevant federal, state and territory laws and legal frameworks should provide that representatives of persons who require supported decision-making must:

- support the person to make decisions or make decisions on their behalf reflecting their will and preferences
- where it is not possible to determine the will and preferences of the person, determine what the person would likely want based on all the information available
- where it is not possible to determine the best interpretation of the person's will and preference, consider the person's human rights relevant to the situation
- act in a manner promoting the personal, social, financial and cultural wellbeing of the person
- · act honestly, diligently and in good faith
- consult with existing appointees, family members, carers and other significant people in their life in making decisions
- · assist the person to develop their own decision-making ability.

An 'existing appointee' should be defined to include existing supporters and representatives and a person or organisation who, under federal, state or territory law, has guardianship of the person, or is a person formally appointed to make decisions for the person.

- 1. Do you agree with the proposal to introduce and standardise the role of representatives nationally?
- 2. Are there any unintended consequences or barriers to implementation we need to consider?

# Safeguard mechanisms

Safeguards are needed to minimise the risk of undue influence and coercion, recognising the unequal relationships between people being supported and supporters and representatives.<sup>143</sup>

Legal scholars have raised concerns that formalising support relationships in legal frameworks may 'place the "bar" too high, deterring less formal involvement'. This may 'risk diluting the perceived legitimacy of informal supporters'. 145

It may also prove challenging for recognised supporters to determine when a person's decision-making ability has declined to the extent that supported decision-making, according to legislation, no longer works.<sup>146</sup>

The ALRC report proposes safeguards, including:147

- the recommended duties of supporters
- the ability of the person who requires decision-making support to revoke the appointment at any time
- provision for the appointment of more than one supporter
- guidance and training for people who require decision-making support, their supporters, and Commonwealth departments and agencies interacting with them.

In respect of representatives, the ALRC report considered that appropriate safeguards are dependent on the decision-making context.<sup>148</sup> It suggested that the Australian Government should consider the following in any Commonwealth representative scheme:<sup>149</sup>

- mechanisms for review and appeal of the appointment of representatives, including on the application of any interested party
- the potential for representatives to be periodically required to make declarations regarding compliance with their duties
- reporting obligations on representatives with respect to decisions, for example by provision of a report, inventory or accounts
- the powers of any Commonwealth body conferred with jurisdiction to appoint a representative should include the power to respond to instances of abuse, neglect or exploitation
- the role of Commonwealth departments and agencies in monitoring, auditing and investigating the conduct of representatives
- the broader applicability of safeguards envisaged under a NDIS quality assurance and safeguards framework.

The Royal Commission is considering approaches to safeguard mechanisms that could be enshrined in legislation, including:

- restrictions on who can act as a legally recognised supporter to decrease the risk of exploitation or manipulation of decision-makers by supporters, an approach taken in Ireland and the United States<sup>150</sup>
- legislating duties on supporters to, for example, refrain from undue influence<sup>151</sup>
- expressly making the supporter relationship one which comes with fiduciary duties<sup>152</sup>
- education and supervision of supporters<sup>153</sup>
- establishment of formal registers of support agreements<sup>154</sup>
- appointed 'monitors' who have oversight of the relationship between the person with a disability and the person appointed<sup>155</sup>
- periodic reporting requirements to a government body with oversight responsibilities of supporters, as is the case in Ireland<sup>156</sup>
- nomination of a person's own safeguards including reporting, audits, periodic supervision, interview and information requests, as can be done in Ireland<sup>157</sup>
- dedicated agencies or government bodies to assist in oversight of supported decision-making<sup>158</sup>
- court or tribunal review of support arrangements<sup>159</sup>
- requirements to document the process for a decision arrived at by the person requiring decision-making support to ensure that it reflects the 'will and preferences' of the person requiring support.<sup>160</sup>

Beyond duties imposed directly by legislation, legal frameworks may establish regulatory systems of standards which may more readily recognise aspects of supported decision-making within particular sectors. For example, the Aged Care Quality Standards framework provides in Standard 1 (Consumer dignity and choice) recognition that 'consumers who need support to make decisions are expected to be provided with access to the support they need to make, communicate and take part in decisions that affect their lives'.<sup>161</sup>

#### Reform proposal 11: Safeguard mechanisms

The Australian Government and state and territory governments should ensure the implementation of safeguards for supporters and representatives. These should be consistent with the safeguards guideline outlined in Reform proposal 4.

Safeguard mechanisms may include:

- · appointment of monitors
- · registration of arrangements
- reporting requirements
- police checks for the appointment of supporters
- mechanisms and procedures for review, appeal and monitoring of support and representative arrangements
- recordkeeping and audit requirements on supporters and representatives
- reporting obligations on representatives for certain decisions, for example, by provision of a report, inventory or accounts.

- 1. Do you agree that all the Australian, state and territory governments should implement safeguards for supporters and representatives, such as those listed above?
- 2. Do you consider any of the possible safeguards in the list above to be inappropriate or ineffectual?
  - a. Are any non-statutory safeguards needed?
  - b. Should supporters be required to best demonstrate that a decision made by a person requiring supported decision-making is in fact a decision of that person?
- 3. Are there any unintended consequences or barriers to implementation we need to consider?

# Interpretative declaration in relation to article 12

The Australian Government has set out its understanding of article 12 of the *CRPD* through an interpretative declaration:

Australia recognizes that persons with disability enjoy legal capacity on an equal basis with others in all aspects of life. Australia declares its understanding that the Convention allows for fully supported or substituted decision-making arrangements, which provide for decisions to be made on behalf of a person, only where such arrangements are necessary, as a last resort and subject to safeguards.<sup>162</sup>

The Australian Government reiterated this position at the Royal Commission's Public hearing 18: The human rights of people with disability and making the Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities a reality in Australian law, policies and practices.<sup>163</sup>

There are differing views on this interpretative declaration, particularly in relation to the role of substitute decision-making. Many disability advocates have recommended that it should be withdrawn. We have been told it prevents reform of existing systems and allows for continued human rights violations, including the denial of legal capacity. 165

The ALRC report suggested the differing views about the effect of the interpretative declaration are driven by conceptual confusion, and that this impedes reform. <sup>166</sup> The ALRC report suggested that conceptual clarity could be achieved, regardless of whether the interpretative declaration is withdrawn. <sup>167</sup> It considered that, in addition to the rollout of the NDIS, the adoption of the National Decision-Making Principles would promote compliance with the *CRPD*. <sup>168</sup>

# Implementing a national supported decision-making framework

This section looks at the different ways in which a national supported decision-making framework could be put into practice.

# Education, training and capacity building

Education and training on supported decision-making can contribute to the fundamental change that is required to change attitudes, alter practices and ultimately facilitate the inclusion of all people with disability in Australian society. Formalising supported decision-making alongside substitute decision-making may create confusion about how the regimes interact. To

Dedicated resources, training and education are required to embed supported decision-making in the everyday practices of the disability support sector and assist people with disability, their families and disability support workers to understand the core principles of supported decision-making.<sup>171</sup>

Research and supported decision-making models trialled in Australia have highlighted the need for greater understanding about effective programs for delivering support for decision-making. Recent research has focused on approaches for transitioning from substitute to supported decision-making through capacity-building programs for supporters of people with cognitive disabilities. Page 173

The La Trobe Decision-making Framework is one example of a promising practice tool to guide decision-making support for people with cognitive disability.<sup>174</sup> The framework outlines steps, principles and strategies to support decision-making. It focuses on understanding the will and preferences of people with cognitive disabilities and guides those who provide support, including families, support workers, guardians and health professionals, with practical strategies.<sup>175</sup>

Obligations to provide supported decision-making could be reflected in policies, instructional materials and codes of practice in different service sectors. A number of respondents to the *Health care for people with cognitive disability issues paper* raised concerns about the lack of knowledge and skills of health professionals in understanding their obligations to provide supported decision-making.<sup>176</sup>

It has been suggested that the NDIS Quality and Safeguards Commission should consider the circumstances in which training on supported decision-making should be mandatory, and that NDIS pricing arrangements should reflect the provision of such training.<sup>177</sup>

Other Commonwealth, state and territory agencies could also provide training on supported decision-making and how it applies in a particular setting.<sup>178</sup> For example, the Australian Health Practitioner Regulation Agency could ensure that all health practitioners are trained and skilled in supported decision-making and capacity assessment, in line with legislative requirements.<sup>179</sup>

#### Reform proposal 12: Education, training and capacity building

The Australian government, state and territory governments should ensure that accessible and culturally appropriate information, guidance and training on supported decision-making is provided to:

- people who require supported decision-making, on their right to support and how this applies in different contexts
- supporters and representatives, to enable them to understand their functions and duties
- employees and contractors of federal, state and territory agencies who engage with people who require supported decision-making, their supporters and representatives.

Responsibility for the development and delivery of this information, guidance and training on supported decision-making should sit with the proposed governance body in Reform proposal 13.

#### **Discussion questions**

- 1. Do you agree with the proposal on education, training and capacity building on supported decision-making?
- 2. Are there any unintended consequences or barriers to implementation we need to consider?

#### Governance

To implement the national supported decision-making framework, commitment is needed at the federal, state and territory levels to promote the right of people with disability to make their own decisions.

Supported decision-making pilots have suggested there would be value in a stand-alone body, such as an agency, service or co-ordinating group, to promote and develop supported decision-making. This body could work with people with disability, their families and service providers to coordinate supported decision-making.<sup>180</sup>

The Royal Commission is considering the merits of establishing such a body to oversee and monitor the implementation of the national supported decision-making framework.

In Scotland, the Centre for Excellence in Supported Decision-Making has been tasked by the Scottish Mental Health Commission to provide expertise; work with the Scottish Government to develop policy and practice changes; roll out training; and build capacity for supported decision-making.<sup>181</sup>

## Funding responsibilities

Legal and policy reforms may require funding and long-term support for implementation if their intended benefits are to be realised for people with disability. 182

We have been told that the Australian Government and state and territory governments should determine an appropriate supported decision-making framework and funding model for non-NDIS participants.

Funding for NDIS participants may occur through their NDIS plan. <sup>183</sup> The NDIA has suggested the following approaches to funding:

- adding professional supported decision-making services as a line item that could be funded in individual participant plans
- continue funding volunteer support for decision-making programs and consider the feasibility of rolling out volunteer programs nationally.<sup>184</sup>

There could also be a continuous funding stream to ensure the development of best practice guidance models and resources across different service system contexts.

## Transitional implementation

A commitment to cultural change is also needed to help the broader community understand that people with disability have the right to make decisions about their lives.

The Royal Commission is considering whether a phased approach is needed to implement a supported decision-making regime. We have been told urgent action is needed to promote greater awareness and use of supported decision-making in practice. However, past reports have highlighted that transitional changes are necessary to fully implement supported decision making, such as building community capacity, development and outreach activities. 186

A dynamic or 'living' framework that allows for progress over time would accommodate the need for immediate action to promote greater awareness and use of supported decision-making, while also building the evidence base for best practice supported decision-making models across different service setting contexts.

#### Reform proposal 13: Establishing a governance body

The Australian government, together with state and territory governments, should establish an independent body to oversee and monitor the implementation of the national supported decision-making framework. This body should:

- · be led by people with disability and their representative organisations
- promote the development of supported decision-making models across different settings and contexts, including for different cohorts and groups of people
- · provide leadership and facilitate the sharing of best practices and research
- provide training on supported decision-making
- support government agencies and organisations in developing supported decision-making resources, tools and materials
- · build community capacity in supported decision-making.

This body should consult and work with the Australian Guardianship and Administration Council to ensure coordination across relevant state and territory-based service systems.

#### **Discussion questions**

- 1. Do you agree with the proposal to establish a governance body, in line with the parameters above?
  - a. Should the governance body have further functions and responsibilities?
  - b. Could an existing governance body implement and monitor the national supported decision-making framework?
- 2. Are there any unintended consequences or barriers to implementation we need to consider?
  - a. Is a phased approach needed to implement a national supported decision-making framework? If so, how should the steps be staged?
  - b. How should the impact of a national supported decision-making framework be measured over time? Should there be ongoing evaluations and periodic reports?

## Part 2: Guardianship

This section looks at proposals to reform guardianship and administration arrangements. It will be the focus of the second roundtable on **1 June 2022**. It builds on Part 1 of this paper. It will also build on the discussion at the first roundtable to focus on how to apply the proposed supported decision-making model (Reform proposal 8) within Australia's guardianship and administration legal framework.

Australia may face challenges agreeing a national best practice approach as guardianship and mental health legal frameworks are within the jurisdiction of states and territories.<sup>187</sup> The benefits of national consistency should be weighed against the potential disadvantages of a uniform scheme that fails to appropriately respond to the socio-legal particularities of each jurisdiction.<sup>188</sup>

## A national 'best practice' model of guardianship

#### A role for supported decision-making

Recent state and territory reviews into guardianship in Australia have recommended the introduction of supported decision-making models to operate alongside substitute decision-making.<sup>189</sup>

Consistent with these reviews, the Royal Commission is proposing greater incorporation of supported decision-making within the guardianship and administrative system. This reform of the guardianship system would sit alongside greater reliance on supported decision-making across Australia in place of guardianship (see Part 1 above).

The discussion below also considers ways that states and territories can reduce the number of people subject to guardianship and administration orders, and the length of time for which they are subject (see Transition points). The reforms considered in this paper would have the effect of transitioning Australia to a system based on 'supporters' and 'representatives', with a strong emphasis on supported decision-making, and representative arrangements used truly as a last resort in line with safeguards.

### A focus on decision-making ability

Australian states and territories take different approaches to assessment of a person's capacity in the course of guardianship and administration matters. In some jurisdictions, a person must have a disability for a substitute decision-making order to be made, while in others, disability is not a precondition.<sup>190</sup>

Recent guardianship reviews in New South Wales and Tasmania proposed the removal of disability as a precondition for substitute decision-making, on the basis that the focus should be on a person's decision-making ability, rather than their disability. 191 It was considered that this would also ensure people with disability have the equal right to make a decision that might be considered by others to be 'irrational' or 'poor'. 192

The reviews in New South Wales and Tasmania proposed a presumption of decision-making ability as well as a statutory test of decision-making ability to replace the traditional approach based on 'capacity' tests. 193

Within the national supported decision-making principles and guidelines, explored in Part 1, the Royal Commission is proposing greater recognition for decision-making ability. This includes a proposed principle and an associated guideline on the presumption of decision-making ability, including determining decision-making ability, outlined in Reform proposals 1 and 5.

# Approaches to incorporating supported decision-making in guardianship regimes

Supported decision-making may be implemented alongside guardianship and administration arrangements in a number of ways. Some different approaches taken in Australian and international jurisdictions are outlined below.

## Requirement to first resort to supported decision-making in guardianship regimes

Some states and territories require supported decision-making be attempted before recourse to substitute decision-making within guardianship and administration legislation. 194 Relevant guardianship legislation in Queensland includes a structured decision-making framework which prioritises supported decision-making and the least restrictive approach before resorting to substitute decision-making. 195

A similar approach has been taken in English and Welsh legislation, with guiding principles requiring that a 'person is not to be treated as unable to make a decision unless all practicable steps to help him to do so have been taken without success'. <sup>196</sup> However, evaluation of this legislation by the House of Lords Select Committee on the Mental Health Act 2005 found the Act was poorly implemented . <sup>197</sup> It concluded that there was a lack of understanding of the Act's principles, in particular by health and social care professionals, and a 'fundamental change of attitudes among professionals is needed in order to move from protection and paternalism to enablement and empowerment'. <sup>198</sup>

#### Legal recognition of supporters within guardianship regimes

Another mechanism to embed supported decision-making into existing frameworks has been to legally recognise people in supporter roles. This has occurred in Victoria, <sup>199</sup> Alberta, <sup>200</sup> Quebec, <sup>201</sup> Texas, <sup>202</sup> Ireland, <sup>203</sup> and a number of European countries. <sup>204</sup>

A legally recognised supporter differs from a legally recognised substitute because there is no transfer of legal powers of decision-making away from the person.<sup>205</sup> Instead, the appointments provide supporters with authority to access information on the supported person's behalf, or help the person communicate their decision. The appointments also provide clarity for third parties interacting with the supported person and their supporter.<sup>206</sup>

In jurisdictions where supporters can be legally recognised, they may also be judicially appointed as an alternative to a guardian or administrator. This is the case in Victoria and Peru.<sup>207</sup> Under this approach, a court or tribunal chooses a person's supporter, rather than the person themselves.<sup>208</sup> However, research suggests this is less restrictive than appointment of a substitute decision-maker and appears more consistent with the goals of supported decision-making.<sup>209</sup>

There has been little evaluation of how supported decision-making works when a person is also subject to a formal substitute decision-making arrangement. Evidence from Israel suggests the appointment of a supporter concurrently with a guardian is ineffectual, as the supporter cannot perform their role in assisting the person when subject to the guardian's approval.<sup>210</sup>

#### Appointment of co-decision makers

'Co-decision-making' is a less common legal arrangement, under which a person is able to appoint a co-decision-maker and decisions are jointly made by a person and their co-decision maker.

Co-decision-making has been legally recognised in Canada and Ireland.<sup>211</sup> Data on the uptake of co-decision making in Canada is limited.<sup>212</sup> In the Irish context it has been suggested that it will be useful in cases of early-stage dementia.<sup>213</sup>

Empirical evidence on how co-decision-making operates as a form of supported decision-making is limited.<sup>214</sup> It has been critiqued as not complying with article 12 of the *CRPD*.<sup>215</sup> Other concerns include how co-decision making interacts with existing laws on consent to medical treatment, if and how liability would be apportioned, and how to safeguard against undue influence by a co-decision-maker.<sup>216</sup>

Co-decision-making approaches have not gained traction in Australia. The New South Wales Law Reform Commission and Tasmanian Law Reform Institute decided against introducing a legislated co-decision-making scheme due to limited support.<sup>217</sup> However, the Victorian Law Reform Commission and the ACT Law Reform Advisory Council have recommended the approach.<sup>218</sup>

#### Self-appointed representatives

In Australia, people can execute legally binding instruments that appoint another person to act on their behalf in the future, at a time when they will be unable or unwilling to make decisions themselves. These appointments may be in the form of enduring powers of attorney, enduring guardianship arrangements or advance directives.

If the instruments provide for the appointee to make decisions according to the person's 'will and preferences' and not their 'best interests' then they may be consistent with the CRPD Committee's understanding of supported decision-making.<sup>219</sup> However, concern has been expressed in research about the 'low and differential take-up' of these mechanisms due to factors such as race, ethnicity, education and other variables.<sup>220</sup>

#### Reform proposal 14: National 'best practice' model of guardianship

State and territory governments should reform guardianship and administration legislative frameworks to be consistent with the proposed national 'best practice' model of guardianship, implementing the supported decision-making principles outlined in Reform proposal 1 and the supported decision-making model in Reform proposal 8.

All Australian jurisdictions should adopt the model to provide greater consistency in approaches to guardianship and administration.

The Australian Guardianship and Administration Council should coordinate implementation of a national 'best practice' model of guardianship that:

- is based on a presumption of decision-making ability
- · incorporates features and methods of supported decision-making
- maintains the role of informal supported decision-making.

#### **Discussion questions**

- 1. Do you agree with the implementation of a national 'best practice' model of guardianship? Is the Australian Guardianship and Administration Council the right body to coordinate this?
- 2. If not, what changes do you suggest and why?
- 3. Are there any unintended consequences or barriers to implementation we need to consider?

## Best practice safeguards in guardianship

Safeguards within guardianship and administration legislation aim to prevent abuse, neglect or exploitation, and adequately respond when it occurs.<sup>221</sup>

Currently, state and territory guardianship and administration systems provide a number of safeguards to prevent abuse, conflicts of interest and undue influence. These include:

- limits on when a tribunal can make a guardianship or financial management order
- eligibility criteria for potential guardians and administrators
- · principles that guardians and financial managers must follow
- periodic reviews and oversight by tribunals.

However, we have heard that, despite the safeguards currently included in guardianship and administration legal frameworks, experiences of abuse, neglect and exploitation continue to occur.

The Australian Guardianship and Administration Council has developed the National Standards of Public Guardianship and National Standards for Financial Management.<sup>222</sup> These include standards on:

- providing information
- · supporting decision-making capacity
- ascertaining will and preferences
- · advocacy and protection
- · decision-making
- · recording information
- · financial decision-making and investment
- · participating in guardianship reviews
- professional development
- privacy and confidentiality requirements.<sup>223</sup>

These standards provide minimum expectations of staff in Offices of the Public Guardian when acting as legal decision-makers on behalf of others, and benchmark standards of service by administrators and financial managers when managing a person's financial affairs.<sup>224</sup> The National Standards are a voluntary code and do not have force of law. It is not clear how and whether states and territories are meeting these standards.

## Alternative dispute resolution

Alternative dispute resolution is broadly supported as a method to resolve conflict in a less formal way than through court or tribunal proceedings.

Several recent guardianship reviews have included recommendations to include mediation powers in relevant guardianship and administration legislation. Tasmania and New South Wales have recommended expanding the role and powers of the Public Advocate to facilitate mediation between parties.<sup>225</sup>

Mediation is available in some jurisdictions in limited circumstances. For example, in South Australia, the Public Advocate can mediate disputes relating to advance care directives and consent to medical treatment.<sup>226</sup> In Queensland, the Public Guardian has power to mediate and conciliate between adults with 'impaired capacity', substitute decision-makers and other parties such as health providers.<sup>227</sup>

## Monitoring and review mechanisms

Monitors who supervise supported decision-making arrangements can reduce the potential for inadvertent exercises of undue influence or conflicts of interest.<sup>228</sup> In British Columbia, a monitor may visit and speak with a supported person, obtain accounts and records from their supporter, and inform the Public Trustee or Guardian if there is reason to believe the supporter is not complying with their duties.<sup>229</sup>

Further options for safeguarding include formal registers of support agreements, or dedicated government agencies to assist in oversight of supported decision-making.<sup>230</sup> However, a number of law reform bodies have suggested that a registration scheme would have to be mandatory and inexpensive in order to be effective.<sup>231</sup>

Recently, the New South Wales Law Reform Commission excluded both monitors and registration requirements as safeguarding components of its supported decision-making framework due to lack of support from stakeholders.<sup>232</sup>

#### Complaint and investigation processes

Some states and territories provide Public Guardians and Public Advocates with powers to investigate complaints or allegations that a person is under inappropriate guardianship, being exploited or abused, or in need of guardianship.<sup>233</sup> In some cases, multiple agencies have investigation powers.

The New South Wales Law Reform Commission suggested that the recommended Public Advocate should provide a central point of contact to receive complaints or allegations and refer them to the most appropriate agency. In cases where there is no other avenue to pursue investigations, the Public Advocate would lead the investigation.<sup>234</sup>

### Accountability mechanisms

Law reform bodies have recommended different approaches on the introduction of criminal or civil penalties for breaches of duty under guardianship and administration legislation.

Victoria has introduced new compensation and offence provisions that allow the Victorian Civil and Administrative Tribunal, or the Supreme Court to order a guardian or administrator to:

- compensate a person for a loss caused by the guardian or administrator contravening the Guardianship and Administration Act 2019 (Vic)
- penalise a guardian or administrator who dishonestly uses their appointment to gain financial advantage or to cause a loss to the represented person.<sup>235</sup>

These offence provisions apply to guardians,<sup>236</sup> administrators,<sup>237</sup> supportive guardians,<sup>238</sup> and supportive administrators.<sup>239</sup>

The Northern Territory also has offences for decision-makers who intentionally engage in conduct that fails to comply with the duties of decision-makers, or is not in accordance with the guiding principles of the legislation, and who are reckless in relation to the adult.<sup>240</sup> A higher penalty is imposed where the decision-maker does so with the intention of obtaining a benefit for themselves or another person.<sup>241</sup>

#### Independent legal representation

Legal and advocacy bodies have identified a need for mandatory legal representation for people subject to guardianship and administration applications.<sup>242</sup> Many people involved in guardianship matters require support to effectively participate in proceedings, and legal representation to ensure access to justice. The provision of representation at first instance hearings is also likely to ensure efficient use of court or tribunal resources and reduce the number of appeals.<sup>243</sup>

We have been told that in some jurisdictions, such as Victoria and Queensland, limited legal representation for first instance hearings may be available either through legal aid or community legal centres. However, due to resource constraints, legal assistance for these types of civil matters is severely limited and frequently unable to meet demand.<sup>244</sup>

#### Additional safeguards for NDIS participants

Some jurisdictions have reported increases in the number of applications for new guardianship and administration appointments related to the NDIS.<sup>245</sup> Additional safeguards may be needed around guardianship and administration applications for NDIS participants initiated by NDIS service providers. For example, it has been suggested that there could be an additional step before the submission of an application to a tribunal, such as a requirement to liaise with the NDIA or NDIS Quality and Safeguards Commission.<sup>246</sup> Alternatively, the Royal Commission is interested in whether service providers should not be allowed to seek or be appointed as guardians or administrators.

## Monitoring and oversight of restrictive practices

The Royal Commission has been told that use of restrictive practices on people subject to guardianship and administration requires further investigation. An analysis of the role of Australian guardianship laws in authorising restrictive practices for people with cognitive disability found inconsistencies across jurisdictions. It concluded that guardianship may not be an appropriate system to reduce reliance on restrictive practices.<sup>247</sup>

Concern has been raised that, without a consistent framework for the use of restrictive practices across all service sectors, guardianship has become a default means of authorising restrictive practices on people with impaired decision-making capacity. For example, the Northern Territory Office of the Public Guardian highlighted that the *Guardianship of Adults Act 2016* (NT) does not provide for authorising and monitoring of restrictive practices. In comparison, the *NDIS Authorisations Act 2019* (NT) establishes a restrictive practice framework for NDIS service providers and participants, including the authorisation of restrictive practices.<sup>248</sup>

Advocates have also advised that there is often more pressure on services to seek guardianship orders over individuals in institutional settings, such as group homes, to ensure 'compliance' with guidelines for using restrictive practices.<sup>249</sup>

Queensland and Tasmania have embedded frameworks within their guardianship laws to authorise restrictive practices in certain circumstances.<sup>250</sup> In both states, safeguards include criteria for consent of restrictive practices, time limits, and regular review by tribunals.<sup>251</sup>

#### Reform proposal 15: 'Best practice' safeguards in guardianship

States and territories should provide adequate safeguards in relation to guardianship and administration. This may require reform to include:

- access to alternative dispute mechanisms for people involved in guardianship matters. This may be achieved by granting Public Guardians or Public Advocates broad mediation functions
- improvements to monitoring and review, such as through the introduction of monitors and a registration system or further resourcing for existing oversight mechanisms
- enhanced investigation powers for Public Guardians and Public Advocates in cases of suspected abuse, neglect or exploitation
- the introduction of offence and compensation provisions in legislation
- mandatory independent legal representation for all adults who are the subject of guardianship and administration orders
- the NDIA and the NDIS Quality and Safeguards Commission taking a greater role in oversight of NDIS service providers that initiate guardianship and administration applications.

#### **Discussion questions**

- 1. Are the safeguards above the right ones within administration and guardianship? Are any safeguards missing?
- 2. Are there any unintended consequences or barriers to implementation we need to consider?

#### Reform proposal 16: Safeguards for restrictive practices within guardianship

If states and territories seek to authorise restrictive practices within the guardianship system, robust safeguards should be included in legislation to ensure appropriate oversight and monitoring. Safeguards should enable improvements in practice, including reducing and eliminating the use of restrictive practices.

#### **Discussion questions**

1. What safeguards for restrictive practices are required within guardianship?

## Reforms for cultural safety

First Nations people under guardianship have told the Royal Commission about being denied the right to culture, to access Country, and to benefit from kinship relationships. <sup>252</sup> Self-determination is a cornerstone of individual and collective First Nations rights. Embedded in this is the right of First Nations people with disability to free, prior and informed consent to developments that affect them.

Research from Western Australia describes language barriers and a lack of cultural relevance in the State's guardianship system.<sup>253</sup> Research from Queensland noted mistrust and suspicion of guardianship and administration systems; a cultural incongruence between Indigenous and Western worldviews on decision-making; and cultural bias in systems designed to assess cognitive and decision-making capacity.<sup>254</sup>

There is also concern at the overrepresentation of First Nations people with disability under guardianship orders and the comparative underrepresentation of First Nations people acting as guardians.<sup>255</sup>

In the Northern Territory, approximately 77 per cent of represented people with the Office of the Public Guardian involvement identify as First Nations.<sup>256</sup> First Nations people represent just over 30 per cent of the Northern Territory population but are three times more likely than non-Indigenous people to have a guardianship order in place.<sup>257</sup>

The New South Wales Law Reform Commission considered that formal supported decision-making may be more culturally appropriate for First Nations people than substitute decision-making.<sup>258</sup> It included special provision for First Nations people in its recommended framework for assisted decision-making, including requirements to:

 consider the specific circumstances of First Nations people and the systemic disadvantage they experience<sup>259</sup>

- have regard to regional cultural differences within jurisdictions, and cultural or linguistic factors specific to First Nations people when determining the decisionmaking ability of a First Nations person<sup>260</sup>
- consider kinship systems customary laws when defining 'relative' and 'spouse'.

#### Reform proposal 17: Reforms for cultural safety

States and territories should reform their guardianship and administration system to better provide cultural safety for First Nations people. This should include requirements on tribunal members to:

- consider the specific circumstances of First Nations people and the systemic disadvantage they experience.
- have regard to regional cultural differences within jurisdictions, and cultural
  or linguistic factors specific to First Nations people when determining the
  decision-making ability of a First Nations person.
- consider kinship and customary understandings of concepts like 'relative' and 'spouse'.

#### **Discussion questions**

- 1. How else can the cultural safety of guardianship and administration systems be improved? Do you agree with the proposed requirements on tribunal members listed above?
- 2. Are there any unintended consequences or barriers to implementation we need to consider?

## **Transition points**

## Transitioning into guardianship

The Royal Commission is examining how certain transitions in people's lives can give rise to situations where people with disability experience violence, abuse, neglect and exploitation. We are interested in whether there are certain pathways to guardianship, for example from some schools, psychiatric facilities, service settings, or aged care facilities.

In the United States, a national evidence base suggests a school-to-guardianship 'pipeline' whereby schools actively encourage parents to seek guardianship of their children with cognitive disability.<sup>262</sup>

Research commissioned by the Royal Commission found that an 'over-protective' approach by family members and disability workers often denied young people with cognitive disability the right to make decisions for themselves and develop important life skills.<sup>263</sup>

We have been told of the need for greater education on substitute decision-making for young people with disability, formal decision makers, family and friends, and health professionals.<sup>264</sup> We have also heard there is a need for more independent advocates to work with and inform children and young people with disability about planning processes and available supports.<sup>265</sup>

The introduction of the NDIS may also be a factor in people of any age being appointed a guardian or administrator. A number of jurisdictions have reported increases in applications for new appointments directly related to the NDIS.<sup>266</sup>

However, there is a lack of research in Australia identifying key transition points that lead to guardianship and administration appointments.

### Transitioning out of guardianship

People have described how guardianship and administration orders can be difficult to vary or revoke, despite existing review mechanisms. There is an onus on the person subject to an order to prove there is no longer a need for the order, and there is little guidance on the criteria for achieving this.

We have heard that an emphasis on skills development for people subject to guardianship and administration arrangements is necessary for people to transition 'out' of such arrangements. For example, some people with disability who have experienced exploitation have suggested that better support to self-manage funds and more practice with financial decision-making may have helped prevent some of the harm to which they were subjected.<sup>267</sup>

The pilot program in New South Wales found that people who were given opportunities to acquire skills and knowledge developed increased capabilities in financial decision-making, and expressed a desire to take on more financial responsibility and have administration orders revoked. Some participants were successful in having their orders removed.<sup>268</sup>

Developing decision-making skills has also been framed as a process of 'risk enablement'.<sup>269</sup> Limiting a person's ability to make their own decisions and take risks can hinder them from learning from their actions and developing new strategies.<sup>270</sup>

#### Reform proposal 18: Transitions out of guardianship

States and territories should undertake efforts to reduce the number of people subject to guardianship and administration orders, and the length of time for which they are subject. These may include measures such as:

- A pilot program to divert a representative percentage of people from guardianship in each state or territory over the next 5 years, in order to foster innovation and develop an evidence base on how this can be done.
- A 'sunset clause' in each guardianship and administration order, after which time the order will lapse if there is not a successful application to renew it.
- A requirement on tribunal members to consider including a program of personalised skill-development in each guardianship or administration order.

#### **Discussion questions**

- 1. Do you agree that states and territories should take measures to decrease the numbers of people subject to guardianship and administration? What are the merits of the suggested measures listed above? What other measures would be effective?
- 2. Are there any unintended consequences or barriers to implementation we need to consider?

## Education and training on supported decision-making

We have been told that a lack of awareness and recognition of the rights of people with disability has resulted in the over-utilisation of guardianship for people with disability.<sup>271</sup>

With the exception of the Queensland Public Trustee pilot, there is limited evidence of how appointed guardians, administrators, attorneys or other formally recognised substitute decision-makers apply or understand supported decision-making in the context of their legally recognised roles.<sup>272</sup> In this pilot, professional staff with financial and other responsibilities for clients were provided with a decision-making framework. The pilot demonstrated a quantifiable shift in self-reported behaviour towards effective support practices.<sup>273</sup>

Victoria currently provides optional training sessions for newly appointed guardians and administrators. The Victorian Law Reform Commission also supported reforms to allow the Victorian Civil and Administrative Tribunal to order individuals to complete training as a condition of appointment as a guardian or administrator.<sup>274</sup>

#### Reform proposal 19: Education and training

The Australian Government and state and territory governments should ensure adequate education and training on human rights and supported decision-making is provided to tribunal members, legal representatives and other stakeholders involved in guardianship and administration matters.

#### **Discussion questions**

- 1. Do you agree with the proposal on education and training for stakeholders involved in guardianship and administration matters? Can you point to any existing good practice in education and training in this area?
- 2. Should education and training on supported decision-making be mandatory and supplemented with practice directions?

## Data collection and public reporting

There is limited publicly available disaggregated data on people subject to guardianship and administration in Australia. For example, there is limited data on First Nations people under guardianship and administration.

There is also little publicly available information on circumstances that may lead to an order being made, or the nature and extent of any violence, abuse, neglect or exploitation experienced by people either before an order, or following an order. Some information about guardianship orders made in response to harm or a threat of harm is available for Queensland, <sup>275</sup> Western Australia, <sup>276</sup> and the Northern Territory. <sup>277</sup>

In June 2019, the Australian Guardianship and Administration Council released *Guidelines for Australian Tribunals* (the Guidelines) on maximising the participation of the person who is the subject of an application or review in guardianship or financial administration proceedings.<sup>278</sup> Although these Guidelines are not binding, they are intended to provide a model of best practice and guidance to Tribunals.<sup>279</sup>

In developing the Guidelines, the Australian Guardianship and Administration Council noted the lack of available and reliable data on the participation rates of people subject to an order or review of a guardianship or administrative order.<sup>280</sup> It proposed guidelines on the collection and public reporting of data including on:

 the participation rates of persons in hearings, broken down into in-person participation, hearings by video conference and hearings by telephone

- the rate of appointment of representatives, broken down into the appointment of public representatives and private representatives
- · the number of appointments of representatives that are revoked, varied or reviewed
- the rate of appointment of legal representatives, separate representatives and guardians ad litem to represent the person in proceedings.<sup>281</sup>

Despite these guidelines, the collection and public reporting of this information remains limited across states and territories.

#### Reform proposal 20: Data collection and reporting

The Australian Guardianship and Administration Council should coordinate a consistent approach to the collection of data on guardianship and administration. This should include a requirement on state and territory tribunals to collect data on:

- the age, gender, First Nation status, ethnicity and location of people under guardianship and administration
- applications for guardianship and administration brought by service providers, and results of these
- participation of people with disability in guardianship and administration proceedings
- applications made in response to violence, abuse, neglect and exploitation
- the nature and extent of any violence, abuse, neglect and exploitation experienced by people under guardianship and administration orders
- the number of complaints, and outcomes of these, about guardians or administrators, including Public Guardians, Public Trustees or private guardians and trustees.

The Australian Guardianship and Administration Council should publish this data annually.

#### Discussion questions

- 1. Do you agree with that a consistent approach to the collection and reporting of data is needed? Should the Australian Guardianship and Administration Council be responsible for this? Are the categories of data listed above sufficient?
- 2. If not, what changes do you suggest and why?
- 3. Are there any unintended consequences or barriers to implementation we need to consider?

## **Appendix**

## Key concepts

#### **Autonomy**

In this paper, autonomy refers to a person's right and freedom to make their own decisions, to have control over their own lives, and to exercise choice.<sup>282</sup>

Autonomy is also centred on relationships, interdependence and social connectedness, reflecting the conditions in society which can result in dependence on others for support, such as exclusion, lack of accessibility and social marginalisation.<sup>283</sup> Everyone is embedded in social relationships, and these influence our ability to make decisions about our lives.<sup>284</sup>

### **Dignity**

Dignity, also referred to as 'human dignity' or 'inherent dignity', is an unconditional and inherent value that exists by virtue of being a person. Dignity is largely considered to be the 'ultimate foundation of all human rights and freedoms'.<sup>285</sup>

Upholding dignity can also be understood as a dynamic process. Governments, institutions and the community collectively have a role to play in creating the conditions where dignity is recognised and realised by ensuring all people a 'status of humanity'.<sup>286</sup>

Respect for dignity implies respect for the autonomy of a person and the right to not be devalued as a human being.<sup>287</sup>

## Dignity of risk

'Dignity of risk' refers to the concept of affording a person the right and dignity to take reasonable risks.<sup>288</sup> It is the idea that self-determination and the right to take reasonable risks are essential for a person's dignity and self-esteem and should therefore not be impeded.<sup>289</sup> Dignity of risk is considered to be an essential part of autonomous decision-making by people with disability, particularly for people with cognitive disability.<sup>290</sup>

## Capacity

'Legal capacity' provides the ability to hold rights and duties under the law, and to exercise those rights.<sup>291</sup> It is instrumental to legal personhood and allows a person's decisions and actions to be recognised and respected by the law. The realisation of autonomy depends on recognition of the ability of people with disability to exercise legal capacity. Legal capacity is also different from 'mental capacity'.<sup>292</sup> Mental capacity refers to a person's decision-making ability and skills, which can vary for each person over time for a range of reasons.<sup>293</sup>

## Guardianship and administration

Guardianship and administration orders are legal decisions made by courts or tribunals that can allow a person to make decisions on another person's behalf.

Guardianship orders may cover decisions about a range of personal matters, including where a person lives, services, health care and other day-to-day matters. Administration or financial management orders authorise decisions about financial matters only.

A guardian or administrator may be a partner, family member or friend of a person with disability, or someone else who has a connection with the person.<sup>294</sup> As a last resort, a public official may be appointed as a guardian or administrator. These officials have a range of different names in states and territories.<sup>295</sup> In this paper, we refer to them as 'Public Guardians' and 'Public Trustees'.

#### Rights, will and preference

The concepts of 'rights', 'will' and 'preference' are generally expressed together as principles for guiding support in the exercise of legal capacity and decisions. 'Rights' refers to all human rights and fundamental freedoms; 'will' refers to longer term goals and value; and 'preferences' refers to more immediate choices such as day to day activities.<sup>296</sup>

## Substitute decision-making

Substitute decision-making refers to a range of processes and regimes that involve a person making decisions on another person's behalf, where legal capacity is removed from a person. A substitute decision-maker can be appointed by someone other than the person concerned, and this can be done against their will. Decisions can be based on what is believed to be in the 'best interests' of the person concerned, instead of the person's own will and preferences.<sup>297</sup>

#### Supported decision-making

Supported decision-making is about giving effect to the will and preferences of a person requiring decision-making support. It refers to a range of processes and approaches that assist people to exercise their autonomy and legal capacity by supporting them to make decisions about their own lives.

In this paper we adopt the term 'supported decision-making' to describe both the practical process and its implementation via policies and formal frameworks.

Appendix 51

- 1 Letters Patent (Cth), 4 April 2019 amended 13 September 2019 (c).
- 2 Letters Patent (Cth), 4 April 2019 amended 13 September 2019, (a).
- 3 Letters Patent (Cth), 4 April 2019 amended 13 September 2019, (h).
- 4 Letters Patent (Cth), 4 April 2019 amended 13 September 2019, recitals.
- Royal Commission into Violence, Abuse, Neglect and Exploitation of People with Disability, *Interim report*, October 2020, p 343.
- See: Ruby Yee, Stephanie Weir, 'Review of "Enabling Risk: Putting Positives First", online learning resource developed specifically for disability support workers by Bigby, Douglas, and Vassallo', (2019), vol 6 (1), Research and Practice in Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities, pp 97-98; Piers Gooding, 'Supported Decision-Making: A Rights-Based Disability Concept and its Implications for Mental Health Law', (2013) vol. 20 (3), Psychiatry, Psychology and Law, pp 431–451.
- 7 UN Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities, preamble, para (n).
- 8 UN Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities, art 3(a).
- 9 United Nations General Assembly, Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities, opened for signature 30 March 2007, United Nations, Treaty Series vol.999 p.3 (entered into force 3 May 2008) art 12(3).
- 10 UN Office of the High Commissioner for Human Rights, *From Exclusion to Equality: Realizing the rights of persons with disabilities*, Handbook for Parliamentarians on the Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities and its Optional Protocol, No.14, 2007, p 89.
- 11 Committee on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities, *General Comment no. 1 (2014) Article 12:* Equal recognition before the law, CRPD/C/GC/1, (11 April 2014), [17].
- 12 Committee on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities, *General Comment no. 1 (2014) Article 12:* Equal recognition before the law, CRPD/C/GC/1, (11 April 2014), [28].
- 13 Committee on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities, *General Comment no. 1 (2014) Article 12:* Equal recognition before the law, CRPD/C/GC/1, (11 April 2014), [28].
- 14 Ron McCallum AO, *The United Nations Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities:*An Assessment of Australia's Level of Compliance, Report prepared for the Royal Commission into Violence, Abuse, Neglect and Exploitation of People with Disability, October 2020, p 47.
- Australian Government, Submission to the UN Committee on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities, Draft General Comment on Article 12 of the Convention–Equal Recognition before the Law, 2014, [16].
- 16 Public hearing 3: The experience of living in a group home for people with disability; Public hearing 4: Health care and services for people with cognitive disability; Public hearing 6: Psychotropic medication, behaviour support and behaviours of concern; Public hearing 8: The experiences of First Nations people with disability and their families in contact with child protection systems; Public hearing 11: The experiences of people with cognitive disability in the criminal justice system; Public hearing 12: The experiences of people with disability, in the context of the Australian Government's approach to the COVID-19 vaccine rollout; Public hearing 13: Preventing and responding to violence, abuse, neglect and exploitation in disability services (a Case Study); Public hearing 14: Preventing and responding to violence, abuse, neglect and exploitation in disability services (South Australia); Public hearing 15: Satellite hearing: Criminal justice and the NDIS; Public hearing 16: First Nations children with disability in out-of-home care; Public hearing 17: The experience of women and girls with disability with a particular focus on family, domestic and violence; Public hearing 18: The human rights of people with disability and making the Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities a reality in Australian law, policies and practices; Public hearing 20: Preventing and responding to violence, abuse, neglect and exploitation in disability services (two case studies).
- 17 See for example: Transcript, Sally Robinson, Public hearing 3, 3 December 2019, P-106 [20-26]; Transcript, Anne Gale, Public hearing 14, 9 June 2021, P-226 [1-19]; Transcript, Claire Robbs, Public hearing 20, 14 December 2021, P-567 [8-24].
- See for example: Name withheld, Submission, 11 February 2020; Name withheld, Submission, 20 December 2019; Name withheld, Submission, 11 May 2020.
- Oliva Davis, Submission, 9 January 2020; Chris Fletcher, Submission, 17 February 2020; Name withheld, Submission, 20 December 2019; Fiona Coglin, Submission, 24 June 2020; Peter Buckland, Submission, 13 March 2020.

- Julie Bury, Submission, 15 November 2019; Name withheld, Submission, 20 December 2019.
- See: Transcript, Megan Osborne, Public hearing 11, 16 February 2021, P-59 [32-47]; Transcript, Patrick McGee, Public Hearing 11, 19 February 2021, P-315 [23-31]; Exhibit 11.15.1, Written statement of Patrick McGee, 14 February 2021, STAT.0317.0001.0001, [38], [44], [72]; Exhibit 11.14.1, Written statement of Lorelle Stoeckel, 30 January 2021, STAT.0288.0001.0001, [46].
- Transcript, Megan Osborne, Public hearing 11, 16 February 2021, P-59 [32-47]; Transcript, Patrick McGee, Public Hearing 11, 19 February 2021, P-315 [23-31].
- 23 Transcript, Dariane McLean, Public hearing 6, 24 September 2020, P-186 [27-31].
- See Transcript, Dariane McLean, Public hearing 6, 24 September 2020, P-186 [27-31].
- Name withheld, Submission in response to *Safeguards and quality issues paper*, 25 March 2021, ISS.001.00600, p 8.
- See for example: Name withheld, Submission in response to *Safeguards and quality issues* paper, 25 March 2021, ISS.001.00600, p 8; UnitingCare Wesley Bowden, Submission in response to *Restrictive practices issues paper*, 9 September 2020, ISS.001.00436, pp 2-3.
- 27 Royal Commission into Violence, Abuse, Neglect and Exploitation of People with Disability, Submissions of Counsel Assisting following Public hearing 20: Preventing and responding to violence, abuse, neglect and exploitation in disability services (two case studies), March 2022, [196]; Submission of Life Without Barriers, Public hearing 20, 13 April 2022, SUBM.0020.0001.00293, [78].
- Transcript, Sarah Forbes, Public hearing 3, 5 December 2019, P-351 [29-42]; Transcript, Naomi Anderson, Public hearing 3, 5 December 2019, P-351 [12-22].
- Fiona Coglin, Submission, 24 June 2020; Name withheld, Submission, 15 June 2021.
- Melbourne East Disability Advocacy, Submission in response to *Rights and attitudes issues paper*, 27 July 2020, ISS.001.00303; Advocacy for Inclusion, Submission in response to *Rights and attitudes issues paper*, 4 September 2020, ISS.001.00429.
- 31 Name withheld, Submission, 16 March 2020.
- Jacinta Douglas and Christine Bigby, 'Development of an evidence-based practice framework to guide decision making support for people with cognitive disability due to acquired brain injury or intellectual disability' (2020) vol 42(3) *Disability and Rehabilitation*, p 440.
- Advocacy for Inclusion, Submission in response to *Rights and attitudes issues paper*, 4 September 2020, ISS.001.00429; Family Planning NSW, Submission in response to *Right and attitudes issues paper*, 23 July 2020, ISS.001.00308; WWILD Sexual Violence Prevention Association, Submission in response to *Rights and attitudes issues paper*, 20 August 2020, ISS.001.00381.
- Committee on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities, *General Comment no. 1 (2014) Article 12:* Equal recognition before the law, CRPD/C/GC/1, (11 April 2014), [27].
- Australian Law Reform Commission, *Elder abuse A national legal response*, Final report, ALRC Report 131, May 2017, p 149. See also: Jeremy Dixon, Sarah Donnelly, Jim Campbell & Judy Laing, 'Safeguarding people living with dementia: how social workers can use supported decision-making strategies to support the human rights of individuals during adult safeguarding enquiries', (2021), *The British Journal of Social Work*, pp 1-18.
- See: Terry Carney, Christine Bigby, Shih-Ning Then, Elizabeth Smith, Ilan Wiesel, Jacinta Douglas and 'Paternalism to empowerment: all in the eyes of the beholder?' (2021), *Disability and Society*, p 2; Gerard Quinn, 'Legal Culture and the CRPD' in *Recognising Human Rights in Different Cultural Contexts*, Singapore: Palgrave Macmillan, 2020, pp 19–44.
- Dementia Australia, Submission in response to *Safeguards and quality issues paper*, 1 February 2021, ISS.001.00529; Australian Human Rights Commission, Submission in response to *Criminal Justice System issues paper*, 20 March 2020, ISS.001.00087; Queensland Human Rights Commission (QHRC), Submission, 19 March 2020, SUB.100.00611; Disability Services Commissioner (Vic), Submission, 30 June 2020, SUB.100.00805; Women with Disabilities Australia, Submission in response to *Group homes issues paper*, 9 July 2020, ISS.001.00242; Speak Out Advocacy Tasmania, Submission in response to *Group homes issues paper*, 28 August 2020, ISS.001.00406.
- 38 Committee on the Rights of Persons With Disabilities, Concluding observations on the combined

- second and third periodic reports of Australia, 22nd sess, UN Doc CRPD/C/AUS/CO/2-3, (15 October 2019), [24(b)]; Human Rights Council, Report of the Special Rapporteur on the rights of persons with disabilities, 27th sess, UN Doc A/HRC/37/56, (12 December 2017), [20].
- Terry Carney, 'Supported decision-making for people with cognitive impairments: An Australian perspective?', (2015), vol 4(1), *Laws*, pp 37-59.
- Shih-Ning Then, Julia Duffy, Christine Bigby, Terry Carney, Ilan Wiesel, Craig Sinclair & Jacinta Douglas, Supported decision-making: The current state of knowledge, Report being prepared for the Royal Commission into Violence, Abuse, Neglect and Exploitation of People with Disability, (forthcoming). See also: Christine Bigby, Jacinta Douglas & Elizabeth Smith, Considering human rights in decision making: Evaluation of the introduction of structured decision making framework in the Public Trustee Queensland, November 2021.
- See for example: Tasmanian Law Reform Institute, *Review of the Guardianship and Administration Act 1995* (Tas), Final report no 26, December 2018, p 7; Bruce Alston, 'Towards supported decision-making: Article 12 of the convention on the rights of persons with disabilities and guardianship law reform' (2017), vol 35(2), *Law Context: A Socio-Legal Journal.*
- 42 Australian Law Reform Commission, *Equality, Capacity and Disability in Commonwealth Laws*, Report 124, August 2014, recommendations 3-1 to 4-12 and 10-1.
- 43 Australian Law Reform Commission, *Equality, capacity and disability in Commonwealth Laws*, Report 124, August 2014, pp 63–86.
- See for example: Senate Community Affairs References Committee, *Inquiry into Indefinite detention of people with cognitive and psychiatric impairment in Australia*, November 2016, recommendation 6; Senate Community Affairs References Committee, *Violence, abuse and neglect against people with disability in institutional and residential settings, including the gender and age related dimensions, and the particular situation of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people with disability, and culturally and linguistically diverse people with disability, November 2015, recommendation 11; Bruce Alston, 'Towards supported decision-making: article 12 of the Convention on the rights of persons with disabilities and guardianship law reform', (2017), vol 35 (2), <i>Law in Context*, pp 21-39; Committee on the Rights of Persons With Disabilities, *Concluding observations on the combined second and third periodic reports of Australia*, 22nd sess, UN Doc CRPD/C/AUS/CO/2-3, (15 October 2019), [24(b)].
- See Australian Human Rights Commission, Submission in response to *The Criminal Justice System issues paper*, 20 March 2020, ISS.001.00087, p 23; Victorian Office of the Public Advocate, Submission in response to *Rights and Attitudes issues paper*, 28 April 2020, ISS.001.00405, p 3.
- For example, Australian Law Reform Commission, *Equality, capacity and disability in Commonwealth laws*, Report 124, August 2014, pp 63–86 and recommendations 3-1-3-4; Senate Community Affairs References Committee, Parliament of Australia, *Violence, abuse and neglect against people with disability in institutional and residential settings, including the gender and age related dimensions, and the particular situation of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people with disability, and culturally and linguistically diverse people with disability, November 2015, recommendations 10–12; Senate Community Affairs References Committee, Parliament of Australia, <i>Inquiry into indefinite detention of people with cognitive and psychiatric impairment in Australia*, November 2016, recommendations 5, 6, 7; Australian Law Reform Commission, *Elder abuse A national legal response*, Report 131, June 2017, recommendation 4-12.
- 47 See: Guardianship and Administration Act 2000 (Qld) ss 5, 6, 11B; Guardianship and Administration Act 2019 (Vic) ss 4, 7, 8. Victoria also provides for the appointment of supportive guardians and supportive administrators: Victoria Guardianship and Administration Act 2019 (Vic) pt 4.
- 48 Guardianship and Administration Act 2000 (Qld) s 11B, Principle 10; Powers of Attorney Act 1998 (Qld), s 6C, Principle 10. See also: Office of the Public Guardian (Queensland), Structured Decision Making Framework, policy, November 2019.
- 49 Guardianship and Administration Act 2019 (Vic).
- Parliament of Victoria, Second reading, *Guardianship and Administration Bill 2018* (Vic), 28 May 2019, p 1424. See also: Office of the Public Advocate (Victoria), Submission in response to *Criminal justice system*, 14 May 2020, ISS.001.00166, p 11.
- 51 Powers of Attorney Act 2014 (Vic); Guardianship and Administration Act 2019 (Vic);

- Medical Treatment Planning and Decisions Act 2016 (Vic); Mental Health Act 2014 (Vic).
- 52 Guardianship and Administration Act 2019 (Vic) s 87.
- 53 Guardianship and Administration Act 2019 (Vic) s 90.
- See Ron McCallum AO, *The United Nations Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities:* An Assessment of Australia's Level of Compliance, Report prepared for the Royal Commission into Violence, Abuse, Neglect and Exploitation of People with Disability, October 2020, p 54; Transcript, Colleen Pearce, Public hearing 3, 3 December 2019, P-122 [23-27]; Second reading, *Guardianship and Administration Bill 2018* (Vic), 28 May 2019, p 1424.
- Victorian Civil and Administrative Tribunal, *Annual Report 2020-21*, p 49.
- People with Disability WA, Submission in response to *Safeguards and quality issues paper*, 3 February 2021, ISS.001.00538.
- NSW Law Reform Commission, *Review of the Guardianship Act 1987*, Report 145, May 2018, recommendation 7.1; Tasmanian Law Reform Institute, *Review of the Guardianship and Administration Act 1995* (Tas), Final report no 26, December 2018, recommendation 7.5; ACT Law Reform Advisory Council, *Guardianship report*, July 2016, recommendations 1, 3.
- National Disability Insurance Scheme Act 2013 (Cth) s 5(e).
- 59 Aged Care Quality and Safety Commission, Aged Care Quality Standards, standard 1(3)(c).
- Julian Laurens, Shona Bates, Rosemary Kayess, Karen R Fisher, commissioned by Australian Government, Department of Social Services, *Good Practice in Supported Decision-making for People with Disability*, June 2021.
- 61 Adult Guardianship and Trusteeship Act 2008 (Alberta).
- Written Testimony of the Centre for Public Representation, Morgan K. Whitlatch, The 192ND General Court of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts, Hearing before the Joint Committee on Children, Families and Persons with Disabilities, Massachusetts, 22 November 2011, p 2. See also: Jonathan Martinis, Jason Harris, Dean Fox & Peter Blanck, 'State guardianship laws and supported decision-making in the United States after Ross and Ross v. Hatch: Analysis and implications for research, policy, education, and advocacy', (2021), *Journal of Disability Policy Studies.*; Nina A Kohn, 'Realizing supported decision-making: What it does—and does not—require', (2021), vol 21 (11), *The American Journal of Bioethics*, pp 313-56,
- Rebecca Naomi Davies, Shirli Werner & Amanda Sinai, 'Guardianship and supported decision-making in israel', (2017), vol 11 (2), *Advances in Mental Health and Intellectual Disabilities*, pp 54-64; Michael Schindler & Meytal Segal-Reich, 'Supported decision-making for older persons in Israel: the 2015 precedent and the following 2016 regulation', (2016), vol 10, *Elder law review (University of Western Sydney)*, pp 1-21; Roni Holler, Shirli Werner, Yotab Tolum & Miriam Pomerantz, 'Choice within the Israeli welfare state: Lessons learned from legal capacity housing services' in (ed) Roger J Stancliffe, Michael L Wehmeyer, Karrie J Shogren & Brian H Abery, *Choice, preference, and disability: Promoting self-determination across the lifespan*, Springer, 2020.
- Arlene S Kanter & Yotam Tolub, 'The Fight for Personhood, Legal Capacity, and Equal Recognition under the Law for People with Disabilities in Israel and Beyond', (2017), vol 39 (2), Cardozo Law Review, pp 557-610.
- United Nations Office of the High Commissioner for Human Rights, *UN expert welcomes legal reform in Colombia to end guardianship regime*, media release, Geneva, 29 August 2019; European Network of National Human Rights Institutions (ENNHRI), *Implementing supported decision-making: Developments across Europe and the role of National Human Rights Institutions*, Report, June 2020, p 2.
- European Network of National Human Rights Institutions (ENNHRI), *Implementing supported decision-making: Developments across Europe and the role of National Human Rights Institutions*, Report, June 2020.
- United Nations Office of the High Commissioner for Human Rights, *UN expert welcomes legal reform in Colombia to end guardianship regime*, media release, Geneva, 29 August 2019.
- Renato Anotonio Constantino Caycho, 'The Flag of imagination: Peru's new reform on legal capacity for persons with intellectual and psychosocial disabilities and the need for new understandings in private law' (2020) vol 14 (June), *The Age of Human Rights Journal*.
- 69 Renato Anotonio Constantino Caycho, 'The Flag of imagination: Peru's new reform on legal

- capacity for persons with intellectual and psychosocial disabilities and the need for new understandings in private law' (2020) vol 14 (June), *The Age of Human Rights Journal*.
- Renato Anotonio Constantino Caycho, 'The Flag of imagination: Peru's new reform on legal capacity for persons with intellectual and psychosocial disabilities and the need for new understandings in private law' (2020) vol 14 (June), *The Age of Human Rights Journal*, p 176.
- Gerard Quinn, 'Legal Culture and the CRPD' in *Recognising Human Rights in Different Cultural Contexts*, Palgrave Macmillan, 2020, p 38.
- 72 Assisted Decision Making (Capacity) Act (Ireland).
- Robert M Gordon, 'The Emergence of Assisted (Supported) Decision Making in the Canadian Law of Adult Guardianship and Substitute Decision Making', (2000), vol 31(1), International Journal of Law and Psychiatry; Office of the Public Advocate (Qld), A journey towards autonomy? Supported decision-making in theory and practice: A review of literature, February 2014, p 13.
- Robert M Gordon, 'The Emergence of Assisted (Supported) Decision-Making in the Canadian Law of Adult Guardianship and Substitute Decision-Making', (2000), vol 31(1), *International Journal of Law and Psychiatry*, p 63.
- Adult Guardianship and Trusteeship Act 2008 (Alberta) ss 4(2), 12, 13(4). See also: Adult Guardianship and Trusteeship Act 2008 (Alberta) s 5(b), s 81.
- 76 Representation Agreement Act 1996 (British Columbia) ss 7(1), 8(1).
- 77 Michelle Browning, To Investigate New Models of Guardianship and the Emerging Practice of Supported Decision Making (2011) Winston Churchill Memorial Trust of Australia, Canberra.
- National Conference of Commissioners on Uniform State Laws, *Uniform Guardianship, Conservatorship, and Other Protective Arrangements Act*, July 2017.
- Written Testimony of the Centre for Public Representation, Morgan K. Whitlatch, The 192ND General Court of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts, Hearing before the Joint Committee on Children, Families and Persons with Disabilities, Massachusetts, 22 November 2011, p 2.
- Shih-Ning Then, Julia Duffy, Christine Bigby, Terry Carney, Ilan Wiesel, Craig Sinclair & Jacinta Douglas, *Supported decision-making: The current state of knowledge,* Report being prepared for the Royal Commission into Violence, Abuse, Neglect and Exploitation of People with Disability, (forthcoming).
- 81 See Christine Bigby et al., 'Delivering decision making support to people with cognitive disability - What has been learned from pilot programs in Australia from 2010 to 2015' (2017) 52 (3) Australian Journal of Social Issues, pp 227-229. See also: Office of the Public Advocate (Vic) & VALID, Volunteer Programs of Support for Decision-Making: Lessons and Recommendations from the OVAL Project, VALID and Office of the Public Advocate, 2017; Office of the Public Advocate (SA), Evaluation of the Supported Decision-Making Project, November 2012; ACT Disability, Aged and Carer Advocacy Service, Spectrums of Support, A Report on a project Exploring Supported Decision Making for People with Disability in the ACT, September 2013; Jacinta Douglas, Christine Bigby & Elizabeth Smith, Building capability to support client decision making: TAC Project No. T005 (Living with Disability Research Centre, La Trobe University, 2020); Christine Bigby, Jacinta Douglas & Elizabeth Smith, Considering human rights in decision making: Evaluation of the introduction of structured decision making framework in the Public Trustee Queensland, (Living with Disability Research Centre, La Trobe University, Bundoora, Vic, 2021); Christiane Purcal, Trish Hill, Kelley Johnson, Rosemary Kayess, 'Evaluation of the supported decision Making phase 2 (SDM2) project: Final report' (Prepared for NSW Trustee and Guardian with the NSW Public Guardian, May 2017).
- National Disability Insurance Agency, *National Disability Insurance Scheme Consultation Paper:* Supporting you to make your own decisions, (2021).
- National Disability Insurance Agency, Support for Decision Making consultation summary report, December 2021.
- National Disability Insurance Scheme, *Companion Paper: Supporting you to make your own decisions*, June 2021, p 5.
- Shih-Ning Then, Julia Duffy, Christine Bigby, Terry Carney, Ilan Wiesel, Craig Sinclair & Jacinta Douglas, *Supported decision-making: The current state of knowledge*, Report being prepared for the Royal Commission into Violence, Abuse, Neglect and Exploitation of People with Disability, (forthcoming).

- Elisabeth Pell & Virginia Mulkern, for Center for Public Representation and Nonotuck Resource Associates, Inc., Supported Decision-Making Pilot: Pilot Program Evaluation Year 2 Report, 2016; Elizabeth Pell, for Hunter College/The Research Foundation CUNY, Supported Decision-Making New York: Evaluation Report of an Intentional Pilot, August 2019; Kristin Booth Glen, 'Piloting Personhood: Reflections from the First Year of a Supported Decision-making Project', (2017), vol 39, Cardozo Law Review, pp 495-520; Kristin Booth Glen, 'Supported Decision-making from Theory to Practice: Further Reflections on an Intentional Pilot Project', (2020), vol 13, Albany Government Law Review, pp 94-168; Lalcheva, Radoslava & Miryana Malamin, Cost Benefit Analysis of Supported Decision-Making, 2014.
- 87 Bizchut (The Israeli Human Rights Center for People with Disabilities), *Supported Decision-Making Service for Persons with Disabilities: Service Model*, 2016.
- Bizchut (The Israeli Human Rights Center for People with Disabilities), Supported Decision-Making Service for Persons with Disabilities: Service Model, (Bizchut, 2016); Christiane Purcal, for NSW Trustee and Guardian with the NSW Public Guardian, Evaluation of the Supported Decision Making Phase 2 (SDM2), Final report, May 2017.
- Shih-Ning Then, Julia Duffy, Christine Bigby, Terry Carney, Ilan Wiesel, Craig Sinclair & Jacinta Douglas, *Supported decision-making: The current state of knowledge*, Report being prepared for the Royal Commission into Violence, Abuse, Neglect and Exploitation of People with Disability, (forthcoming).
- Advocacy for Inclusion Incorporated, Submission in response to *Rights and attitudes issues* paper, 4 September 2020, ISS.001.00429.
- 91 NSW Trustee and Guardian, Submission in response to *Safeguarding and quality issues paper*, 11 March 2021, ISS.001.00588.
- Melbourne East Disability Advocacy, Submission in response to *Rights and attitudes issues paper*, 27 July 2020, ISS.001.00303; People with Disability WA, Submission in response to *Safeguards and quality issues paper*, 3 February 2021, ISS.001.00538; Australian Human Rights Commission, Submission in response to *Criminal Justice System issues paper*, 20 March 2020, ISS.001.00087.
- Kristin Booth Glen, 'Introducing a new human right: Learning from others, bringing legal capacity home', (2018), vol 49(3), *Columbia Human Rights Law Review,* pp 1-96, 20.
- Australian Law Reform Commission, *Equality, Capacity and Disability in Commonwealth Laws*, Report 124, August 2014, rec 3-2, 3-3, 3-4.
- Australian Law Reform Commission, *Equality, Capacity and Disability in Commonwealth Laws,* Report 124, August 2014, pp 71.
- Australian Law Reform Commission, *Equality, Capacity and Disability in Commonwealth Laws,* Report 124, August 2014, recommendation 3-2.
- Julian Laurens, Shona Bates, Rosemary Kayess, Karen R Fisher, commissioned by Australian Government, Department of Social Services, *Good Practice in Supported Decision-making for People with Disability,* June 2021, pp 37-38.
- 98 Australian Law Reform Commission, *Equality, Capacity and Disability in Commonwealth Laws*, Report 124, August 2014, recommendation 3-3.
- 99 Australian Law Reform Commission, *Equality, Capacity and Disability in Commonwealth Laws*, Report 124, August 2014, p 78.
- Australian Law Reform Commission, *Equality, Capacity and Disability in Commonwealth Laws*, Report 124, August 2014, p 78.
- Australian Law Reform Commission, *Equality, Capacity and Disability in Commonwealth Laws*, Report 124, August 2014, p 109.
- Australian Law Reform Commission, *Equality, Capacity and Disability in Commonwealth Laws*, Report 124, August 2014, recommendation 3-4.
- Australian Law Reform Commission, *Equality, Capacity and Disability in Commonwealth Laws,* Report 124, August 2014, p 86.
- 104 WWILD Sexual Violence Prevention Association Inc, Submission in response to *Rights and attitudes issues paper*, 20 August 2020, ISS.001.00381.
- 105 WWILD Sexual Violence Prevention Association Inc, Submission in response to *Rights and attitudes issues paper*, 20 August 2020, ISS.001.00381.

- Australian Law Reform Commission, *Equality, Capacity and Disability in Commonwealth Laws*, Report 124, August 2014, p 93.
- 107 Australian Law Reform Commission, *Equality, Capacity and Disability in Commonwealth Laws*, Report 124, August 2014, recommendation 3-2.
- New South Wales Law Reform Commission, *Review of the Guardianship Act 1987*, Report 145, May 2018, recommendations 6.1, 6.2, 6.3, 6.4; Tasmania Law Reform Institute, *Review of the Guardianship and Administration Act 1995* (Tas), Final Report No 26, December 2018, recommendations 6.1, 6.3, 6.4, 6.9; ACT Law Reform Advisory Council, *Guardianship report*, July 2016, p 82.
- New South Wales Law Reform Commission, *Review of the Guardianship Act 1987*, Report 145, May 2018, p 59.
- New South Wales Law Reform Commission, *Review of the Guardianship Act 1987*, Report 145, May 2018, recommendation 6.1
- See for example: Barba Lewis, Submission, 25 February 2020, p 2. [SUB.001.00086].
- See for example: Barba Lewis, Submission, 25 February 2020, p 2. [SUB.001.00086].
- Alston, Bruce. "Towards supported decision-making: Article 12 of the convention on the rights of persons with disabilities and guardianship law reform." *Law Context: A Socio-Legal J.* 35 (2017): 39.
- 114 Christine Bigby, Jacinta Douglas, Terry Carney, Shih-Ning Then, Ilan Wiesel & Elizabeth Smith, 'Delivering decision making support to people with cognitive disability - what has been learned from pilot programs in australia from 2010 to 2015', (2017), vol 52(3), *Australian Journal of Social Issues*, pp 222-40, 231-2.
- Australian Law Reform Commission, *Equality, Capacity and Disability in Commonwealth Laws*, Report 124, August 2014, p 95; Shih-Ning Then, Julia Duffy, Christine Bigby, Terry Carney, Ilan Wiesel, Craig Sinclair & Jacinta Douglas, *Supported decision-making: The current state of knowledge*, Report being prepared for the Royal Commission into Violence, Abuse, Neglect and Exploitation of People with Disability, (forthcoming).
- Australian Law Reform Commission, *Equality, Capacity and Disability in Commonwealth Laws*, Report 124, August 2014, recommendation 3-2.
- Name withheld, Submission in response to *Safeguards and quality issues paper*, 25 March 2021, ISS.001.00600, p 8.
- See: Transcript, Jodi Rodgers, Public hearing 20, 7 December 2021, P-134 [26-47]-P-135 [1-5]; Transcript, Liz Dore, Public hearing 20, 7 December 2021, P-135 [10-20]; Transcript, Steven Doley, Public hearing 20, 13 December 2021, P-386 [38-47]. See also: Transcript, Caroline Cuddihy, Public hearing 13, 26 May 2020, P-247 [13-23], [35-47]-P-248 [1-3].
- See for example: People with Disabilities WA, Submission in response to *Restrictive practices* issues paper, 6 October 2020, ISS.001.00481, p 10; Lojic Institute, Submission in response to *Restrictive practices issues paper* 31 August 2020, ISS.001.00408, p 7.
- 120 See Transcript, Dariane McLean, Public hearing 6, 24 September 2020, P-186 [27-31].
- Name withheld, Submission in response to *Safeguards and quality issues paper*, 25 March 2021, ISS.001.00600, p 8.
- See for example: Speech Pathology Australia, Submission in response to *Group homes issues paper*, 27 February 2020, ISS.001.00071, p 11; Speech Pathology Australia, Submission in response to *Health care for people with cognitive disability issues paper*, 27 April 2020, ISS.001.00138, p 10; Dementia Australia, Submission in response to *Rights and attitudes issues paper*, 30 July 2020, ISS.001.00298, p 8.
- Australian Law Reform Commission, *Equality, Capacity and Disability in Commonwealth Laws*, Report 124, August 2014, p 53.
- 124 Aged Care Quality and Safety Commission, Aged Care Quality Standards, standard 1(3)(d).
- 125 Aged Care Quality and Safety Commission. Aged Care Quality Standards, standard 1(3)(c).
- Australian Law Reform Commission, *Equality, Capacity and Disability in Commonwealth Laws*, Report 124, August 2014, recommendations 4-1 to 4-9.
- 127 Australian Law Reform Commission, *Equality, Capacity and Disability in Commonwealth Laws*, Report 124, August 2014, chapter 4.
- Australian Law Reform Commission, *Equality, Capacity and Disability in Commonwealth Laws*, Report 124, August 2014, recommendation 4-10.

- Australian Law Reform Commission, *Equality, Capacity and Disability in Commonwealth Laws*, Report 124, August 2014, recommendation 10-1.
- Australian Law Reform Commission, *Equality, Capacity and Disability in Commonwealth Laws*, Report 124, August 2014, pp 120.
- Australian Law Reform Commission, *Equality, Capacity and Disability in Commonwealth Laws*, Report 124, August 2014, pp 122-123.
- Australian Law Reform Commission, *Equality, Capacity and Disability in Commonwealth Laws*, Report 124, August 2014, pp 119-123
- Australian Law Reform Commission, *Equality, Capacity and Disability in Commonwealth Laws*, Report 124, August 2014, recommendations 4-1 to 4-9.
- New South Wales Law Reform Commission, *Review of the Guardianship Act 1987*, Report 145, May 2018; Tasmania Law Reform Institute, *Review of the Guardianship and Administration Act 1995 (Tas)*, Final Report No 26, December 2018; ACT Law Reform Advisory Council, *Guardianship report*, July 2016.
- Australian Law Reform Commission, *Equality, Capacity and Disability in Commonwealth Laws*, Report 124, August 2014, p 68.
- Shih-Ning Then, Julia Duffy, Christine Bigby, Terry Carney, Ilan Wiesel, Craig Sinclair & Jacinta Douglas, *Supported decision-making: The current state of knowledge*, Report being prepared for the Royal Commission into Violence, Abuse, Neglect and Exploitation of People with Disability, (forthcoming).
- 137 Guardianship and Administration Act 2000 (Qld), ss 11B and 11C.
- 138 Guardianship and Administration Act 2000 (Qld), ss 11B.
- Judicial College of Victoria, *Guide to the Guardianship and Administration Act 2019* (Vic), February 2020, p 48.
- 140 Guardianship and Administration Act 2019 (Vic), s 5(4).
- 141 Guardianship and Administration Act 2019 (Vic), ss 8, 9.
- Australian Law Reform Commission, Equality, Capacity and Disability in Commonwealth Laws, Report 124, August 2014, p 92.
- Julian Laurens, Shona Bates, Rosemary Kayess, Karen R Fisher, commissioned by Australian Government, Department of Social Services, *Good Practice in Supported Decision-making for People with Disability,* June 2021, p 26; Shih-Ning Then, 'Evolution and innovation in guardianship laws: assisted decision-making', (2013), vol 35(1), *Sydney Law Review*.
- Sophie Nunnelley, *Personal support networks in practice and theory: Assessing the implications for supported decision-making law,* Law Commission of Ontario, 2015, p 100.
- Lucy Series & Anna Nilsson, 'Article 12 CRPD: Equal Recognition before the Law' in *The UN Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities: A Commentary,* Oxford University Press, 2018, pp 340-79.
- Therése Fridström Montoya, 'Supported decision-making in Swedish law Is the »God Man« a good or bad guy in light of the CRPD?' (english version), *Psychiatrie Verlag*, 2019.
- Australian Law Reform Commission, *Equality, Capacity and Disability in Commonwealth Laws*, Report 124, August 2014, p 110.
- Australian Law Reform Commission, *Equality, Capacity and Disability in Commonwealth Laws*, Report 124, August 2014, p 118.
- Australian Law Reform Commission, *Equality, Capacity and Disability in Commonwealth Laws,* Report 124, August 2014, p 118.
- Antonio Martinez-Pujalte, 'Legal Capacity and Supported Decision-making: Lessons from some Recent Legal Reforms', (2019), vol 8 (4), *Laws*.
- Piers Gooding, A new era for mental health law and policy: Supportive decision-making and the UN Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities, Cambridge University Press, 2017, p 224.
- Kristin Booth Glen, 'What Judges Need to Know About Supported Decision-Making, and Why', (2019), vol 58 (1), *The Judges' Journal*, pp 26-31.
- Lise Barry & Susannah Sage-Jacobson, 'Human rights, older people and decision making in Australia', (2015), vol 9, *Elder Law Review*, pp 1-21.
- Terry Carney, 'Searching for workable alternatives to guardianship for vulnerable populations?', (2015), vol 1(1), *Ethics, Medicine and Public Health*, pp 113-19.

- For some discussion of how these work in practice see: Nidus Personal Planning Resource Centre and Registry, Experiences of Adults Living with Fetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorder and their Personal Supporters in Making and Using a Representation Agreement.
- Antonio Martinez-Pujalte, 'Legal Capacity and Supported Decision-making: Lessons from some Recent Legal Reforms', (2019), vol 8 (4), *Laws*.
- Alberto Vasquez Encalada, K. Bialik & K. Stober, 'Supported Decision Making in South America: Analysis of Three Countries' Experiences', (2021), vol 18(10), *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health;* Antonio Martinez-Pujalte, 'Legal Capacity and Supported Decision-making: Lessons from some Recent Legal Reforms', (2019), vol 8 (4), *Laws.*
- See, for example, Canadian Centre for Elder Law, Study Paper on Inclusive Investing: Respecting the Rights of Vulnerable Investors through Supported Decision-Making, 2021.
- Antonio Martinez-Pujalte, 'Legal Capacity and Supported Decision-making: Lessons from some Recent Legal Reforms', (2019), vol 8 (4), *Laws*; Marie Fallon-Kund & Jerome E. Bickenbach, 'New Legal Capacity Laws and the United Nations Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities: An Overview of Five Countries in Europe', (2017), vol 24(3), *European Journal of Health Law*, pp 285-310.
- Julian Laurens, Shona Bates, Rosemary Kayess, Karen R Fisher, commissioned by Australian Government, Department of Social Services, *Good Practice in Supported Decision-making for People with Disability,* June 2021, p 37.
- 161 Quality of Care Principles 2014 (Cth) Part 5, Schedule 2 'Aged Care Quality Standards', 'Standard 1'. See also: Australian Government Aged Care Quality and Safety Commission, Guidance and Resources for Providers to support the Aged Care Quality Standards, March 2021, p 8.
- 162 Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities: Declarations and Reservations (Australia), opened for signature 30 March 2007, 999 UNTS 3 (entered into force 3 May 2008). There are also Interpretative Declarations in relation to articles 17 and 18.
- Transcript of Andrew Walter, Public hearing 18, 9 November 2021, P-164 [35–37]; Exhibit 18-020, CTD.9999.0007.0001, pp 4-5.
- See for example: Law Institute of Victoria, Submission, 9 March 2021, SUB.100.01267, pp 6, 9; Women's Safety NSW, Submission in response to Violence and abuse of people with disability at home, 19 April 2021, ISS.001.00708, p 79; Women with Disabilities Australia, Submission, 13 November, 2020, SUB.100.01039, p 40; Women with Disability Australia, Submission, 5 July 2021, SUB.100.01449, p 50; Inclusion Australia, Submission in response to Criminal justice system issues paper, 22 June 2021, ISS.001.00682, p 7; People with Disability Australia, Submission in response to Promoting inclusion, 27 July 2021, ISS.001.00700, pp 5-6.
- Women with Disabilities Australia, Submission, 13 November, 2020. [SUB.100.01039, pp 40, 47]; People with Disability Australia, Submission in response to *Promoting inclusion*, 27 July 2021, ISS.001.00700, p 5; Advocacy for Inclusion Incorporated, Submission in response to *Rights and attitudes issues paper*, 4 September 2020, ISS.001.00429.
- Australian Law Reform Commission, Equality, Capacity and Disability in Commonwealth Laws, Report 124, August 2014, p 49.
- Australian Law Reform Commission, Equality, Capacity and Disability in Commonwealth Laws, Report 124, August 2014, p 57.
- Australian Law Reform Commission, Equality, Capacity and Disability in Commonwealth Laws, Report 124, August 2014, p 58.
- Queensland Advocacy Incorporated, Submission in response to *Promoting inclusion issues paper*, 4 June 2021, ISS.001.00665; Advocacy for Inclusion Incorporated, Submission in response to *Rights and attitudes issues paper*, 4 September 2020, ISS.001.00429.
- Terry Carney & Fleur Beaupert, 'Public and private bricolage: Challenges balancing law, services and civil society in advancing the CRPD supported decision making', (2013), vol 36(1), *University of New South Wales Law Journal*, pp 175-201; Shih-Ning Then, 'Evolution and innovation in guardianship laws: assisted decision-making', (2013), vol 35(1), *Sydney Law Review*, pp 133-66.
- Disability Services Commissioner (Vic), Submission, 30 June 2020, SUB.100.00805; Dementia Australia, Submission in response to *Safeguards and quality issues paper*, 1 February 2021, ISS.001.00529, p 9; Christine Bigby et al., 'Delivering decision making support to people

- with cognitive disability What has been learned from pilot programs in Australia from 2010 to 2015' (2017) 52 (3) Australian Journal of Social Issues, p 236; Australian Law Reform Commission, Equality, Capacity and Disability in Commonwealth Laws, Report 124, August 2014, recommendation 4-11.
- See Christine Bigby et al., 'Delivering decision making support to people with cognitive disability

   What has been learned from pilot programs in Australia from 2010 to 2015' (2017) 52 (3)

  Australian Journal of Social Issues, p 236.
- See Terry Carney, 'Supported decision-making in Australia: Meeting the challenge of moving from capacity to capacity-building?' (2017) vol 35(2) *Disability, Rights and Law Reform in Australia.*
- Jacinta Douglas and Christine Bigby, 'Development of an evidence-based practice framework to guide decision making support for people with cognitive disability due to acquired brain injury or intellectual disability' (2020) vol 42(3) *Disability and Rehabilitation*.
- Jacinta Douglas and Christine Bigby, 'Development of an evidence-based practice framework to guide decision making support for people with cognitive disability due to acquired brain injury or intellectual disability' (2020) vol 42(3) *Disability and Rehabilitation*.
- Victorian Office of the Public Advocate, Submission in response to *Health care for people with cognitive disability*, 27 February 2020, ISS.001.00169; Queensland Office of the Public Guardian, Submission in response to *Health care for people with cognitive disability*, 15 May 2020, ISS.001.00174.
- 177 Disability Services Commissioner (Vic), Submission, 30 June 2020, SUB.100.00805.
- 178 Australian Law Reform Commission, *Equality, Capacity and Disability in Commonwealth Laws*, Report 124, August 2014, recommendation 4-12.
- 179 Victorian Office of the Public Advocate, Submission in response to *Health care for people with cognitive disability*, 27 February 2020, ISS.001.00169.
- Victorian Office of the Public Advocate, *Decision Time: Activating the rights of adults with cognitive disability,* February 2021, p 24; Christiane Purcal et al, 'Evaluation of the Supported Decision Making Phase 2 (SDM2) Project: Final Report' (Research Report, UNSW Social Policy Research Centre, 2017)
- 181 Scottish Mental Health Law Review, Consultation, March 2022, pp 59-60.
- Supported decision-making: The current state of knowledge, Report being prepared for the Royal Commission into Violence, Abuse, Neglect and Exploitation of People with Disability, (forthcoming).
- NT Office of the Public Guardian, Submission in response to *Rights and attitudes issues paper,* 12 August 2020, ISS.001.00339 pp 5-6; Victorian Office of the Public Advocate, Submission in response to *Rights and attitudes issues paper,* 28 August 2020, ISS.001.00405, p 23.
- 184 Victorian Office of the Public Advocate, Submission in response to *Health care for people with cognitive disability*, 27 February 2020, ISS.001.00169.
- Dementia Australia, Submission in response to *Safeguards and quality issues paper*, 1 February 2021, ISS.001.00529; Australian Human Rights Commission, Submission in response to *Criminal Justice System issues paper*, 20 March 2020, ISS.001.00087.
- Julian Laurens, Shona Bates, Rosemary Kayess, Karen R Fisher, commissioned by Australian Government, Department of Social Services, *Good Practice in Supported Decision-making for People with Disability,* June 2021, p 33; ACT Law Reform Advisory Council, *Guardianship report,* July 2016, pp 81-82
- Piers Gooding & Terry Carney, 'Australia: Lessons from a Reformist Path to Supported Decision-Making' in *Legal capacity, disability and human rights: Towards a comprehensive approach,* Supreme Court of Mexico, Human Rights Division, 2021.
- Terry Carney, 'Guardianship, 'social' citizenship and theorising substitute decision-making law' in Beyond elder law: new directions in law and aging, Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2012, pp 1-17.
- 189 NSW Law Reform Commission, *Review of the Guardianship Act 1987*, Report 145, May 2018; Tasmanian Law Reform Institute, *Review of the Guardianship and Administration Act 1995* (Tas), Final report no 26, December 2018; ACT Law Reform Advisory Council, *Guardianship report*, July 2016.
- 190 See for example: Medical Treatment Planning and Decisions Act 2016 (Vic) s 4; Advance Personal Planning Act 2016 (NT) s 6; Guardianship of Adults Act 2016 (NT) s 5; Guardianship

- and Administration Act 2000 (Qld) sch 4, definitions of 'impaired capacity' and 'capacity'.
- New South Wales Law Reform Commission, *Review of the Guardianship Act 1987*, Report 145, May 2018, recommendation 6.1; Tasmania Law Reform Institute, *Review of the Guardianship and Administration Act 1995* (Tas), Final Report No 26, December 2018, recommendation 6.1.
- Tasmania Law Reform Institute, *Review of the Guardianship and Administration Act* 1995 (Tas), Final Report No 26, December 2018, pp 91-92.
- New South Wales Law Reform Commission, *Review of the Guardianship Act 1987*, Report 145, May 2018, recommendations 6.1, 6.2, 6.3, 6.4; Tasmania Law Reform Institute, *Review of the Guardianship and Administration Act 1995* (Tas), Final Report No 26, December 2018, recommendations 6.1, 6.3, 6.4, 6.9; ACT Law Reform Advisory Council, *Guardianship report*, July 2016, p 82.
- See: Guardianship and Administration Act 2000 (Qld) s 11B; Powers of Attorney Act 1998 (Qld) s 6C; Guardianship and Administration Act 1993 (SA) s 5(c); Guardianship of Adults Act 2016 (NT) s 11(2)(e); Guardianship and Administration Act (Tas) s 20(1)(b); Guardianship and Administration Act 1990 (WA) s 4(4).
- 195 Guardianship and Administration Act 2000 (Qld) s 11B, Principle 10; Powers of Attorney Act 1998 (Qld), s 6C, Principle 10. See also: Office of the Public Guardian (Queensland), Structured Decision Making Framework, policy, November 2019.
- 196 Mental Capacity Act 2005 (England and Wales), s 1(3). See also: Rosie Harding, 'Care and Relationality: Supported decision-making under the UN CRPD' in Revaluing Care in Theory, Law and Policy: Cycles and Connections, Routledge, 2017.
- House of Lords Select Committee on the Mental Capacity Act 2005, *Mental Capacity Act 2005:* post-legislative scrutiny, March 2014, pp 51-52.
- House of Lords Select Committee on the Mental Capacity Act 2005, *Mental Capacity Act 2005:* post-legislative scrutiny, March 2014, p 51.
- 199 Medical Treatment Planning and Decisions Act 2016 (Vic); Guardianship and Administration Act 2019 (Vic).
- 200 Decision-making, Support and Protection to Adults Act 2003 (Yukon); See Shih-Ning Then, 'Evolution and innovation in guardianship laws: assisted decision-making', (2013), vol 35(1), Sydney Law Review, pp 133-66.
- 201 Civil Code 1991 (Québec).
- Kristin Booth Glen, 'Introducing a new human right: Learning from others, bringing legal capacity home', (2018), vol 49(3), *Columbia Human Rights Law Review,* pp 1-96, 29; Dalun Zhang, Jessica M Walker, Dianey R Leal, Leena Jo Landmark & Antonis Katsiyannis, 'A Call to Society for Supported Decision-Making: Theoretical and Legal Reasoning', (2019), vol 28 (7), *Journal of Child and Family Studies,* pp 1803-14.
- 203 Assisted Decision-Making (Capacity) Act 2015 (Ireland).
- Assisted Decision-Making (Capacity) Act 2015 (Ireland); Arlene S Kanter & Yotam Tolub, 'The Fight for Personhood, Legal Capacity, and Equal Recognition under the Law for People with Disabilities in Israel and Beyond', (2017), vol 39(2), Cardozo Law Review, pp 557-610; Marie Fallon-Kund & Jerome E. Bickenbach, 'New legal capacity laws and the United Nations Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities: An overview of five countries in Europe', (2017), vol 24 (3), European Journal of Health Law, pp 285-310.
- Terry Carney, 'Guardianship, 'social' citizenship and theorising substitute decision-making law' in Soden *Beyond elder law: new directions in law and aging,* Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2012, pp 1-17.
- 206 Shih-Ning Then, Julia Duffy, Christine Bigby, Terry Carney, Ilan Wiesel, Craig Sinclair & Jacinta Douglas, *Supported decision-making: The current state of knowledge,* Report being prepared for the Royal Commission into Violence, Abuse, Neglect and Exploitation of People with Disability, (forthcoming).
- Guardianship and Administration Act 2019 (Vic), Part 4; Renato Antonio Constantino Caycho, 'The flag of imagination: Peru's new reform on legal capacity for persons with intellectual and psychosocial disabilities and the need for understandings in private law' (2020) vol 14 (June), The Age of Human Rights Journal, pp 155-80.
- Antonio Martinez-Pujalte, 'Legal Capacity and Supported Decision-making: Lessons from some Recent Legal Reforms', (2019), vol 8(4), *Laws*.

- Shih-Ning Then, Julia Duffy, Christine Bigby, Terry Carney, Ilan Wiesel, Craig Sinclair & Jacinta Douglas, *Supported decision-making: The current state of knowledge*, Report being prepared for the Royal Commission into Violence, Abuse, Neglect and Exploitation of People with Disability, (forthcoming).
- 210 Bizchut (The Israeli Human Rights Center for People with Disabilities), *Supported Decision-Making Service for Persons with Disabilities: Service Model* (Bizchut, 2016).
- Adult Guardianship and Trusteeship Act 2008 (A); Assisted Decision-Making (Capacity) Act 2015 (Ireland).
- Nina A Kohn, Jeremy A Blumenthal and Amy T Campbell, 'Supported decision making: A viable alternative to guardianship?', (2013), vol 117(4), *Penn State Law Review.*
- 213 Hope Davidson, 'The Assisted Decision-Making (Capacity) Act 2015: How will it Change Healthcare Decision Making for People with Dementia', (2016), vol 23(2), *Medico-Legal Journal of Ireland.*
- 214 Shih-Ning Then, 'Evolution and innovation in guardianship laws: assisted decision-making', (2013), vol 35(1), *Sydney Law Review*, pp 133-66.
- 215 Charles O'Mahony and Catriona Maloney, 'The impact of international human rights law on Irish mental health and mental capacity law reform', (2017), vol 23, *Medico-Legal Journal of Ireland*.
- 216 Shih-Ning Then, Hilary Patrick and Nicola Smith, 'Reinforcing guardianship regimes through assisted decision making a Scottish perspective', (2014), vol 2014(4) *Juridical Review: law journal of Scottish universities*, pp 263-80.
- NSW Law Reform Commission, *Review of the Guardianship Act 1987*, Report 145, May 2018, pp 89-90; Tasmanian Law Reform Institute, *Review of the Guardianship and Administration Act 1995* (Tas), Final report no 26, December 2018, p 138.
- Victorian Law Reform Commission, *Guardianship*, Final Report 24, April 2012; ACT Law Reform Advisory Council, *Guardianship report*, July 2016. See also: Shih-Ning Then, Terry Carney, Christine Bigby & Jacinta Douglas, 'Supporting decision-making of adults with cognitive disabilities: the role of law reform agencies recommendations, rationales and influence', (2018), vol 61, *International Journal of Law and Psychiatry*, pp 64-75.
- Committee on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities, *General Comment no. 1 (2014) Article 12:* Equal recognition before the law, CRPD/C/GC/1, (11 April 2014).
- Terry Carney, 'Searching for workable alternatives to guardianship for vulnerable populations?', (2015), vol 1(1), *Ethics, Medicine and Public Health,* pp 113-19.
- Tasmania Law Reform Institute, *Review of the Guardianship and Administration Act 1995* (Tas), Final Report No 26, December 2018, p 194.
- Australian Guardianship and Administration Council, *National Standards of Public Guardianship,* Third edition 2016; Australian Guardianship and Administration Council, *National Standards of Financial Managers*, August 2018 edition.
- These standards complement policies, practice standards, and procedures as well as complaint and review mechanisms for people affected by guardians' decisions, requirements which financial managers need to meet in each state and territory, and a range of government requirements relating to areas such as appropriate professional behaviour, privacy and confidentiality, conflict of interest and ethical work practices: Australian Guardianship and Administration Council, *National Standards of Public Guardianship*, Third edition 2016; Australian Guardianship and Administration Council, *National Standards of Financial Managers*, August 2018 edition.
- Australian Guardianship and Administration Council, *National Standards of Financial Managers*, August 2018 edition, p 1.
- New South Wales Law Reform Commission, *Review of the Guardianship Act 1987*, Report 145, May 2018, rec 13.1(3)(a); Tasmania Law Reform Institute, *Review of the Guardianship and Administration Act 1995* (Tas), Final Report No 26, December 2018, recs 5.7, 12.3.
- Advance Care Directives Act 2013 (SA), s 44-45; Consent to Medical Treatment and Palliative Care Act 1995 (SA) Part 3A.
- 227 Guardianship and Administration Act 2000 (Qld) s 42; Public Guardian Act 2014 (Qld), s 12(1)(d).
- ACT Law Reform Advisory Council, *Guardianship report*, July 2016, p 89.
- 229 Under the British Columbian legislation, a supported person is known as a "represented person"

- and is generally required to nominate a monitor: *Representation Agreement Act 1996* (British Columbia) ss 12, 20.
- See for example: Terry Carney, 'Searching for workable alternatives to guardianship for vulnerable populations?', (2015), vol 1(1), Ethics, Medicine and Public Health, pp 113-19; Canadian Centre for Elder Law, Study Paper on Inclusive Investing: Respecting the Rights of Vulnerable Investors through Supported Decision-Making, 2021.
- Australian Law Reform Commission, *Elder abuse A national legal response*, Final report, ALRC Report 131, May 2017, pp 181-182; Victorian Law Reform Commission, *Guardianship*, Final Report 24, April 2012, p 364; Queensland Law Reform Commission, *A Review of Queensland's Guardianship Laws*, Report 67 September 2010, p 186.
- New South Wales Law Reform Commission, *Review of the Guardianship Act 1987,* Report 145, May 2018, pp 90-91.
- Public Trustee and Guardian Act 1985 (ACT) s 19B(1)(b); Guardianship of Adults Act (NT) s 61(1)(e); Public Guardian Act 2014 (Qld) ss 12(1)(c), 19; Guardianship and Administration Act 1995 (Tas) s 17(1); Guardianship and Administration Act 2019 (Vic) s 16(1)(g); Guardianship and Administration Act 1990 (WA) s 97(1)(c).
- New South Wales Law Reform Commission, *Review of the Guardianship Act 1987,* Report 145, May 2018, p 217.
- 235 Guardianship and Administration Act 2019 (Vic), ss 181-193.
- 236 Guardianship and Administration Act 2019 (Vic), ss 188(1), 188(2).
- 237 Guardianship and Administration Act 2019 (Vic), ss 189(1), 189(2).
- 238 Guardianship and Administration Act 2019 (Vic), ss 191(1), 191(2).
- 239 Guardianship and Administration Act 2019 (Vic), ss 192(1), 192(2).
- 240 Advance Personal Planning Act 2016 (NT) s 78(1); Guardianship of Adults Act 2016 (NT) s 87(1).
- 241 Advance Personal Planning Act 2016 (NT) s 78(3); Guardianship of Adults Act 2016 (NT) s 87(2).
- 242 Law Council of Australia, Submission in response to *Criminal Justice System issues paper*, 17 August 2020, ISS.001.00370; Queensland Advocacy Incorporated, Submission, 30 April 2021, SUB.001.00977; Advocacy for Disability Access and Inclusion, Submission, 23 June 2021, SUB.100.01419.
- Law Council of Australia, Submission in response to *Criminal Justice System issues paper*, 17 August 2020, ISS.001.00370.
- Law Council of Australia, Submission in response to *Criminal Justice System issues paper*, 17 August 2020, ISS.001.00370.
- Office of the Public Advocate (Victoria), *Annual Report 2020*, 30 June 2020, p 4; Office of the Public Advocate (Victoria), *Annual Report 2020*, 18 November 2021, p 6; Office of the Public Guardian (Queensland), *2020-21 Annual Report*, October 2021, p 28; NSW Trustee & Guardian, *Annual Report 2020-21*, December 2021, p 30; Office of the Public Advocate (South Australia), *Annual Report 2020-21*, September 2021, p 14; Office of the Public Guardian (Northern Territory), *Annual Report 2020-21*, September 2021, p 23; Office of the Public Guardian Tasmania, *Annual Report 2020-21*, September 2021, p 20; Office of the Public Advocate (Western Australia), *Annual Report 2020/202*, September 2021, pp 5, 8-9.
- 246 Queensland Advocacy Incorporated, Submission, 30 April 2021, SUB.001.00977.
- 247 Kim Chandler, Ben White & Lindy Willmott, 'What role for adult guardianship in authorising restrictive practices?', (2017), vol 43(2), *Monash University Law Review.*
- NT Office of the Public Guardian, Submission in response to *Restrictive practices issues paper*, 6 October 2020, ISS.001.00482 p 4.
- 249 Disability Advocacy Network Australia (DANA), Submission, 23 November 2021, SUB.100.01892.
- 250 Guardianship and Administration Act 2000 (Qld) chapter 5B; Disability Services Act 2011 (Tas) s 42.
- 251 Guardianship and Administration Act 2000 (Qld) ss 80V, 80Y(2), 80ZE; Disability Services Act 2011 (Tas) ss 38, 39(3), 43, 44(3).
- 252 Fiona Coglin, Submission, 24 June 2020 [SUB.001.00347]; Name withheld, Submission, 15 June 2021.
- N Clements, J Clapton and L Chenoweth, 'Indigenous Australians and Impaired Decision-Making Capacity', (2010), vol 45(3), *Australian Journal of Social Issues*.
- 254 Jayne Clapton, Lesley Chenoweth, Natalie Clements, Vicki Pascoe, Kylie Radal, Yvonne Cadet

- James, Val Wallace & Diane Cadet-James, for Office of the Public Advocate Queensland, Impaired Decision-Making Capacity and Indigenous Queenslanders: Final Report for the Office of the Public Advocate, Queensland, Final Report, 2011, p 9.
- Office of the Public Advocate (Vic), Submission in response to *First Nations issues paper*, ISS.001.00640. See also: New South Wales Law Reform Commission, *Review of the Guardianship Act 1987*, Report 145, May 2018, p 35.
- NT Office of the Public Guardian, Submission in response to *Criminal Justice System* issues paper, 20 March 2020, ISS.001.00091, p 3; Northern Territory Office of the Public Guardian, Submission in response to *Rights and Attitudes* issues paper, 12 August 2020, ISS.001.00339.
- Office of the Public Guardian (Northern Territory), Annual Report 2020-21, September 2021, p 29.
- New South Wales Law Reform Commission, *Review of the Guardianship Act 1987*, Report 145, May 2018, pp 35-36, 79.
- New South Wales Law Reform Commission, *Review of the Guardianship Act 1987,* Report 145, May 2018, recommendation 5.3.
- New South Wales Law Reform Commission, *Review of the Guardianship Act 1987*, Report 145, May 2018, recommendation 6.4
- New South Wales Law Reform Commission, *Review of the Guardianship Act 1987,* Report 145, May 2018, recommendation 10.21.
- 262 National Council on Disability, Beyond Guardianship: Toward Alternatives That Promote Greater Self-Determination, March 2018; National Council on Disability, Turning Rights Into Reality: How Guardianship and Alternatives Impact the Autonomy of People with Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities, June 2019.
- The University of Queensland, *Young People with Cognitive Disability Transitioning to Adulthood:* Experiences of Violence, Abuse, Neglect, and Exploitation, Report being prepared for the Royal Commission into Violence, Abuse, Neglect and Exploitation of People with Disability, (forthcoming).
- Exercise and Sports Science Australia, Submission in response to *Health care for people with cognitive disability*, 20 March 2020, ISS.001.00132.
- 265 Commission for Children and Young People (Vic), Submission, 17 March 2020, SUB.100.00605.
- Office of the Public Advocate (Victoria), Annual Report 2020, 30 June 2020, p 4; Office of the Public Advocate (Victoria), Annual Report 2020, 18 November 2021, p 6; Office of the Public Guardian (Queensland), 2020-21 Annual Report, October 2021, p 28; NSW Trustee & Guardian, Annual Report 2020-21, December 2021, p 30; Office of the Public Advocate (South Australia), Annual Report 2020-21, September 2021, p 14; Office of the Public Guardian (Northern Territory), Annual Report 2020-21, September 2021, p 23; Office of the Public Guardian Tasmania, Annual Report 2020-21, September 2021, p 20; Office of the Public Advocate (Western Australia), Annual Report 2020/202, September 2021, pp 5, 8-9.
- Name withheld, Submission, 20 December 2019.
- 268 Christiane Purcal, for NSW Trustee and Guardian with the NSW Public Guardian, *Evaluation of the Supported Decision Making Phase 2 (SDM2)*, Final report, May 2017.
- Bigby, C., Douglas, J.M., & Vassallo, S., *Enabling Risk: Putting Positives First. An online learning resource for disability support workers* (2018); Professor Christine Bigby, Professor Jacinta Douglas & Lisa Hamilton, *NSW Public Guardian Risk Enablement Training (An Overview)*, 2017; Purple Orange, *NDIS Safeguards and Risk Enablement*, December 2018.
- Office of the Public Guardian (Qld), Submission in response to *Restrictive practices issues paper*, 3 November 2020, ISS.001.00503, p 14.
- Northern Territory Office of the Public Guardian, Submission in response to *Rights and Attitudes issues paper*, 12 August 2020, ISS.001.00339.
- 272 Supported decision-making: The current state of knowledge, Report being prepared for the Royal Commission into Violence, Abuse, Neglect and Exploitation of People with Disability, (forthcoming).
- 273 Christine Bigby, Jacinta Douglas & Elizabeth Smith, Considering human rights in decision making: Evaluation of the introduction of structured decision making framework in the Public Trustee Queensland, November 2021.

- 274 Victorian Law Reform Commission, *Guardianship*, Final Report 24, April 2012, recommendation 293.
- 275 Office of the Public Guardian (Queensland), 2020-21 Annual Report, October 2021, p 27.
- Office of the Public Advocate (Western Australia), *Annual Report 2020/202*, September 2021, pp 31, 47.
- 277 Office of the Public Guardian (Northern Territory), Annual Report 2020-21, September 2021, p 15.
- Australian Guardianship and Administration Council, *Guidelines for Australian Tribunals*, Final report, June 2019.
- Australian Guardianship and Administration Council, *Guidelines for Australian Tribunals*, Final report, June 2019, p 7.
- Australian Guardianship and Administration Council, *Guidelines for Australian Tribunals*, Final report, June 2019, p 16.
- Australian Guardianship and Administration Council, *Guidelines for Australian Tribunals*, Final report, June 2019, Guidelines 8 and 9.
- See: Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities, preamble, para (n) and art 3(a).
- Anna Arstein-Kerslake, Erin O'Donnell, Rosemary Kayess & Joanne Watson, 'Relational personhood: a conception of legal personhood with insights from disability rights and environmental law' (2021), vol 30 (3), *Griffith Law Review,* p 533. See also: Lauren Davy and Celia Green, 'The Right to Autonomy and the Conditions that Secure It: The Relationship Between the UNCRPD and Market-Based Policy Reform' in *Disability Law and Human* Rights, 2022, p 130.
- Shane Clifton, *Hierarchies of power: disability theories and models and their implications for violence against, and abuse, neglect, and exploitation of, people with disability,* Report prepared for the Royal Commission into Violence, Abuse, Neglect and Exploitation of People with Disability, Month 2020, p 26.
- 285 Rosemary Kayess and Therese Sands, *Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities:*Shining a light on Social Transformation, Report prepared for the Royal Commission into Violence, Abuse, Neglect and Exploitation of People with Disability, September 2020, p 9.
- See: Getahun A Mosissa, 'Human Dignity' in *A Re-examination of Economic, Social and Cultural Rights in a Political Society in the Light of the Principle of Human Dignity,* Intersentia, 2021, pp 87-143.
- See: Getahun A Mosissa, 'Human Dignity' in *A Re-examination of Economic, Social and Cultural Rights in a Political Society in the Light of the Principle of Human Dignity,* Intersentia, 2021, pp 87-143. See also: Arthur Chaskalson, 'Human Dignity as a Constitutional Value' in *The Concept of Human Dignity in Human Rights Discourse,* Kluwer Law International, 2002, pp 133-144.
- Joseph E Ibrahim & Marie-Claire Davis, 'Impediments to applying the 'dignity of risk' principle in residential aged care services', (2013) vol 32 (3), *Australasian Journal of Ageing*, pp 188-93. See also: Robert Perske, 'The dignity of risk and the mentally retarded', (1972), vol 10 (1), *Mental Retardation*, pp 24-7.
- Office of the Public Guardian (Qld), Submission in response to *Restrictive practices issues paper*, 3 November 2020, ISS.001.00503, p 14.
- 290 Independent Advisory Council to the NDIS, Support for Decision Making in the NDIS, July 2019.
- 291 Committee on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities, *General Comment no. 1 (2014) Article 12:* Equal recognition before the law, CRPD/C/GC/1, (11 April 2014), [13-14].
- There are three different approaches that are taken to an assessment of a person's capacity to make a particular decision: the status approach is where an assessment of capacity is based on the diagnosis of an impairment or medical condition; the *outcome* approach is where a person makes a decision that is considered to have negative consequences; and the *functional* approach where there is an assessment of a person's mental capacity/decision-making skills as deficient: see Committee on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities, *General Comment no. 1 (2014) Article* 12: Equal recognition before the law, CRPD/C/GC/1, (11 April 2014), [15].
- 293 Committee on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities, *General Comment no. 1 (2014) Article 12:* Equal recognition before the law, CRPD/C/GC/1, (11 April 2014), [13].
- Guardianship and Management of Property Act 1991 (ACT) s 7; Mental Health Act 2015 (ACT) s
   19; Guardianship and Administration Act 2000 (Qld) s 15; Guardianship of Adults Act 2016 (NT) s 15; Guardianship Act 1987 (NSW), ss 3E, 6B; Guardianship and Administration Act 1993 (SA)

- s 29; Guardianship and Administration Act 1995 (Tas) s 21; Guardianship and Administration Act 2019 (Vic) s 32; Guardianship and Administration Act 1990 (WA) s44.
- In Queensland, New South Wales, the Northern Territory and Tasmania 'Public Guardians'; in the South Australia, Victoria and Western Australia Territory 'Public Advocates'. (Queensland and the Australian Capital Territory also have a position of 'Public Advocate', but in these jurisdictions the Public Advocate is an independent statutory role that undertakes systems advocacy functions). A public official may also be appointed as a person's financial administrator as a last resort: this official is called the Public Trustee in most states and territories, the 'NSW Trustee and Guardian' in New South Wales and the 'State Trustee' in Victoria. The Australian Capital joins the roles for guardianship and administration under the 'Public Trustee and Guardian'.
- See: Terry Carney, Shih-Ning Then, Christine Bigby, Ilan Wiesel, Jacinta Douglas and Elizabeth Smith, 'Realising 'will, preferences and rights': reconciling differences on best practice support for decision-making?' (2019), vol 28 (4), *Griffith Law Review;* Julian Laurens, Shona Bates, Rosemary Kayess, Karen R Fisher, commissioned by Australian Government, Department of Social Services, *Good Practice in Supported Decision-making for People with Disability,* June 2021. See also: Australian Law Reform Commission, *Equality, capacity and disability in Commonwealth laws,* Report 124, August 2014, p 76.
- 297 Committee on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities, *General Comment no. 1 (2014) Article 12:* Equal recognition before the law, CRPD/C/GC/1, (11 April 2014), [27].



# Royal Commission into Violence, Abuse, Neglect and

Exploitation of People with Disability